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YOUSUFADIL 
PACE ALIGNED ... 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the members of Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited 

Report on the Audit of the unconsolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

Vousuf Adil 
Chartered Accountants 

Cavish Court, A-35, Block 7 & 8 
KCHSU, Shahrah-e-Faisal 
Karachi-7S350 
Pakistan 

Tel: +92 (0) 21 34546494-7 
Fax +92 {OJ 21 34541314 
www,yousufadllcom 

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of Pak Brunei Investment Company limited ('the 
Company'), which comprise the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the 
unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, 
along with notes to the unconsolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the unconsolidated 
statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account, the unconsolidated statement 
of comprehensive Income, the unconsolidated statement of changes In equity and the unconsolidated cash flow 
statement together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable In Pakistan, and, gIve the informatIon required by the CompanIes Act, 2017(XIX of 2017), In the manner so 
required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at December 31 , 2024 and 
of the profit, t he comprehensIve Income, the changes in equity and its cash flow for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Unconsolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
Intemational Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants' as adopted by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Information Other than the unconsolidated financial statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Director's report for the yea r ended December 31, 2024, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements 
and our auditor's report thereon. 

OUf opinion on the unconsolidated financial statements does not cover the other Information and we will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connect ion with our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements, our responsibility Is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other Information Is materially Inconsistent with the 
unconsolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we concluded that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report t hat fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

W 1700\ Certahed SiIleC' 2017 
Ilar.d'n !/llm'I~Dadllaf\<lff I hCuRaI! 
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YOUSUF ADIL 
PACE ALI GNED .. . 

Yousuf Adil 
Chanered Accountants 

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the unconsolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the unconsolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 
201 7 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, management Is responsible for assessing the Company's abil ity 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
reali stic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financia l report ing process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the unconsolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to Issue an auditors report that Includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but Is not a guarantee that an audit conducted In 
accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, Individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these unconsolidated 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the unconsolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obta in audit evidence 
that Is suffic ient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design aud it procedures that are 
appropriate In the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertaInty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are requ ired to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the 
unconsolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are Inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audIt evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, fu tUre 
events or conditIons may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern . 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial statements, includ ing 
the disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated finanCial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we Identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethIcal requirements 
regarding Independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our Independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

~ ''''I VllO' Ct-l~.., s..... 2<11 
.. I m~t...:ILil\ele ~,,!!"" 
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PAC E ALIGNED ... 

Report on Other Legal and R~ulalory Requirements 

Based on our audit. we further report that In our opinion: 

Yousuf Adil 
Chllnered Accountants 

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017); 

b) the unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account, the 
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the unconsolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with 
the Companies Act, 201 7(XIX of 201 7) and are in agreement with the books of account; 

c) Investments made, expenditure Incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the 
Company's business; and 

d) No zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980). 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this Independent auditor's report Is Hena Sadlq. 

odJ1 ~ Accou~tants 
~;~~~~~ ' R rachi 

Date: March 5, 2025 
UDIN: AR202410057Njl308isq 



PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 

2024 2023 
••• _ •• US Dollars In '000 ••••••. 

2,859 
387 
· 

605,809 
75,898 

169 
195 

28 
873 

38,359 
606 

725,183 

· 
661,940 

4,185 
135 

· 
· 

13,481 

679,741 

45,442 

21,540 
9,017 
2,094 

12,791 

45,442 

ASSETS 
2,472 Cash and balances wilh treasury banks 

861 Balances with other banks 
· Lendings 10 financial institutions 

569,632 Investments 
70,400 Advances 

191 Property and equipment 
61 Right·of·use assets 
45 Intangible assets 

4,055 Deferred tax assets 
26,408 Other assets 
1,049 Assets classified as held·for·sale 

675,174 Total assets 

LIABILITIES 

· Bills payable 
626,796 Borrowings 

· Deposits and other accounts 
10 Lease liabilities 

· Subordinated debt 

· Deferred tax liabilities 
9,458 Other liabilities 

636,264 Total liabilities 

38,910 NET ASSETS 

REPRESENTED BY 
21,540 Share capital 

8,578 ReselVes 
(2,945) Surplus I (Deficit) on revaluation of assets 
11,737 Unappropriated profit 

38,910 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

2024 2023 
Note -_ •••• _.- Rupees In '000 •••••••••••• 

5 796,300 688,559 
6 107,838 239,927 

· · 
7 168,748,062 158,671,066 
8 21,141,357 19,609,901 
9 47,071 53,320 

10 54,278 16,863 
11 7,893 12,521 
12 243,419 1,129,621 
13 10,684,829 7,356,144 
14 168,904 292,279 

201,999,951 188,070,201 

· · 
15 184,383,470 174,593,998 
16 1,165,705 · 
17 37,194 2,765 

· · 
· · 

18 3,755,209 2,634,490 

189,341,578 177,231,253 

12,658,373 10,838,948 

19 6,000,000 6,000,000 
2,512,191 2,390,092 

20 583,165 (820,467) 
3,563,017 3,269,323 

12,658,373 10,838,948 

21 

The annexed notes 1 to 46 form an Integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

President I Chief Executive 

- #J/-_" .. A . q 

Chief Financial Officer 

I 

Director Director Director 
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PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ANP LOSS ACCOUNT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 

2024 2023 
••••••• US Dollars In '000 - - -. 

135,884 
131.982 

3,902 

459 
1,770 

. 
-
248 

. 
(56) 

2,421 

79,519 Mark·up I relum Iinierest earned 
74,600 Mark·up I relurn Iinieresl expensed 

4,919 Nel mark-up I inleresl lncome 

415 
1,241 

. 
-
442 

-
354 

Non mark-up I Int. rest Income 
Fee and commission Income 
Dividend Income 
Foreign exchange Income 
Income I (loss) from derivatives 
Gain on sale of securilies 
Nel gains I (losses) on derecognitlon of financial 

assels measured al amortised cost 
Olher (loss) I income 

2,452 Tolal non mark-up Iinierest Income 
----

6,323 7,371 Total income 

Non mark-up Ilnter.91 expenses 

D,108 U2,087 Operating expenses 
- - Other charges 
90 89 Workers' Welfare Fund 

2,198 2,176 Tolal non mark-up Iinierest expenses 

4,125 5,195 Profit before credillos. allowance 

275 (853) Credilloss allowance and wrile offs - nel 
Olher Income I expense 

4,400 4,342 Profll before levies and taxation 

1,927 1,153 Levies 

2,473 3,189 Profll before taxation 

281 148 Taxation 

2,192 3,041 Profil after laxallon 

US Dollars 

=~0.~00~3;:!6=5= =0~.=00~5~0~7= Basic and diluted earnings per share 

Nole 

22 
23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

The annexed noles 1 to 46 form an inlegral part of Ihese unconsolldaled financial slalemenls. 

, 

lef Executive 

11 u .... "'...,.. q 

lhlef Financial Officer --=D":'lr-e-ct-o-,-- Direclo, 

2024 2023 
- - ----- Rupee. in '000 "--'-

37,850,478 
36,763,666 

1,086,812 

127,748 
493,100 

-
-

69,074 

. 
(15,478) 

674,444 

1,761,256 

587,265 
. 

25,012 

612,277 

1,148,979 

76,662 

1,225,641 

536,799 

688,842 

78,347 

610,495 

22,150,090 
20,779,898 

1 ,370,192 

115,591 
345,572 

-
-

123,238 

. 
98,532 

682,933 

2,053,125 

581,208 
. 

24,685 

605,893 

1 ,447,232 

(237,648) 

1.209,584 

321,063 

888,521 

41,167 

847,354 

Rupees 

1,02 1.41 

Nc.~ 

Dlrecto, 



PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 

2024 2023 
••••••• US Dollars In 'ODD ••••••• 

2,192 3,041 Profit after taxallon for Ihe year 

Other comprehensive Income 

Items that may be reclassified to unconsolidated 
statement of profit and loss account In subsequent periods: 

Movement In surplus on revaluallon of debl 
4,916 254 'investments through FVOCI • net of tax 

Itoms that will not be reclassified to unconsolidated 
statement of profit and loss account In subsequent periods: 

2 12 • Remeasurement gain on defined benefit plan· net of tax 

Movement in surplus on revaluation of equity investments· 
123 net of tax 

Gain I (loss) on disposal of securities classified as fair 
376 (1,610) value through other comprehensive income· net of tax 

7,609 1,697 Total comprehensive Income 

The annexed notes Ito 46 form an Integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

~ 

2024 2023 
• •••••• _. Rupees In 'ODD ••••••• 

610,495 847,354 

1,369,268 70,868 

498 3,314 

34,364 610,257 

104,800 (448,365) 

2,119,425 1,083,428 

, 

~ ~ Nt:..~ . /1 '&oI~..A I~ I 
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer Director Director Director 



PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024 

Sharo 
capital 

Capital 
roserve 

Statutory 
reserve' 

.... __ .. -_ .. 

As at January 1, 2023 

Impact of first time adoption of IFRS 9 

Total comprehensive Incoma for the yoar 
Profit after taxation for the year ended December 31 , 2023 

Other comprehensive 1011 

- Remeasuremenlloss on defined benefit plan· net of lax 
• Loss' on disposal of securities cla6slfied 8S fair value through 
other comprehensive Income - net of tax 

- Movement In surplus J (deficit) on revaluation of Investments 
In debt Instruments · net of laK 

- Movemenlln surplus I (deficit) on revaluation of investments 
In equ1ty Instruments - net of lax 

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Transfer to general res erye 

Transactions with ownors, recorded directly In equity 

Balance as at December 31, 2023 

Tolal comprehensive Income for the year 
Profit after taxation for the year ended December 31 . 2024 

Other comprehensive lOBS 

- Remeasurement gain on def1ned benefit plan - net of tax 
- GaIn on disposal of securities classified as faIr value through 

olher comprehensive Income - net of tax 
- Movement In surplus on revaluation of Investments In 

debt Instruments - net of tax 
• Movement In surplus on revaluation of investments 

In equity Instruments - net of tax 

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Transrer to general reserve 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly In Clqulty 

Final cash dividend paId for the year ended. December 31. 2023 
@ Re. 0.50 per share 

Balance as at Docember 31, 2024 

6,000,000 1,620,621 

· · 

· · 
· · 

· · 

169,471 

6,000,000 1,990,092 

· · 

· · 

· · 

· · 

122,099 

6,000,000 2,112,191 

• This reserve Is created under the requirement of seclion of 42(2) of SSP Act, 1956 . 

Revenue 
reserve (Oeflclt) I 

surplus on 
General rovalusllon 

reserve .. of alleta 

Rupees In '000 

300,000 (1,601,592) 

· · 

· · 

· · 
70,868 

· 610,257 
681,125 

100,000 

400,000 (620,4671 

· · 

· · 

· 1,369,268 

· 34,384 

1,403,632 

400,000 683,186 

.. This reserve Is created under the requirement of CompanIes Act, 2017 for future losses and other contingencies. 

les 1 to 46 form an Integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

~ , ~/ b-II ",.... 0.-
_III 

hlef Executive Chief Financial Officer Director 1~ Director 

Unappropriated 
profit 

3,364,196 10,003,227 

(247,707) 

847,354 

3,314 

(448,365) 

· 
· 

402,303 

(169,4711 
(100,000) 

(247,707) 

847,354 

3,314 

(448,365) 

70,666 

610,257 
1,083,426 

3,269,323 10,838,948 

610,495 610,495 

498 498 

104,800 104,800 . 
· 1,369,268 

· 34,384 

716,793 2,119,425 

(122,099) 

(300,0001 (300,0001 

3,663,017 12,658,373 

Nt:.~ 

Director 
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PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
UNCONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 

2024 2023 
-- US Dollars In 'DOD - -

4,400 4,343 

1,770 1,241 

2,630 3,102 

71 34 
105 93 

18 7 

10 14 

90 89 
(275) 853 

(19) 45 

57 (347) 
(1) (7) 

58 781 

2,686 3,883 

. 23,550 

(5,128) (11,483) 
(5,317) 14,406 

1,171 (15,168) 

(9,274) 11 ,305 

35,144 381,525 

4, 185 (197) 

239 . 
3,874 3,827 

43,442 385,155 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Profit before taxation 
Less: dividend income 

Adjustments: 

Depreciation 
Depreciation on oght-of-use assets 
Amortisation 
interest expense on lease liability against 

right-at-use assets 
Provision for Workers' Welfare Fund 
Credit loss allowance and write-offs 
Unrealised gain on revaluation of Investments 
classified as fair value through profit and foss - net 
Gain on sale of assets classified as 

held-for-sale 
Gain on sale of property and equipment 

(Increase) I decrease In operating assets 

Lendings to financial Institutions 
Net investments in securities held at fair value as classified 
FVPL 
Advances 
Others assets (excluding advance taxation, non 

banking assets and dividend receivable) 

Increase I (decrease) in operating liabilities 

Borrowings from financial institutions 
Deposits 
Lease liabilities 
Other liabilities (excluding lease liability) 

(1,927) (1,153) Levies paid 
(13,404) __ "(",2,,,5=26,,-) Income tax paid 

21 ,523 396,664 Net cash flow from operating activities 

202. 2023 
Note - Rupees In '000 --

27 

27 

17 
28 
29 

26 
26 

1,225,641 
493,100 

732,541 

19,916 
29,1 31 
4,984 

2,751 
25,012 

(76,662) 

(5,400) 

15,865 
(387 

15,210 

747,751 

(1,428,390) 
(1,481,078) 

326,182 

(2,583,286) 

9,789,472 
1,165,705 

66,546 
1,078,894 

12,100,617 

(536,799) 

(3,733,774) 

5,994,509 

1,209,584 
345,572 

864,012 

9,394 
25,871 

2,059 

3,848 
24,685 

237,648 

12,432 

(96,626) 
(1,906) 

217,405 

1.081,417 

6,559,967 

(3,198,495) 
4,012,727 

(4,225,148) 

3,149,051 

106,273,763 
(54,768) 

1,065,941 

107,284,936 

(321,063) 
(703,293) 

110,491 ,049 



2024 2023 2024 2023 
•••••••• US Dollars In '000 ........ Note ...... _ ... Rupees In '000 ........ · 

(22,336) 
1,775 

(50) 
(239) 

(1 ) 
2 

443 

(20,406) 

(1,077) 
(128) 

(1 ,205) 

(88) 

3,334 

3,246 

(396,837) 
1,235 
(176) 

-
(41) 
16 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Net Investments in securities classified as FVOCI 
Dividends received 
Investments in property and equipment 
Rlght·of-use assets 
Investments In operating Intangible assets 
Disposal of property and equipment 

1,018 Proceeds from sale of assets classified as held·for-sale 

(394,785) Net cash flow (used In) investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Dividend paid 
(116) Paymenls of lease obligations against right-of-use assets 

(116) Net cash used in financing activities 

1,763 Increase In cash and cash equivalents 

1,570 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 

3,333 Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 33 

The annexed notes 1 to 46 form an Integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

~ 

Director 

(6,221,636) (110,539,058) 
494,453 344,219 
(13,798) (49,068) 
(66,546) . 

(356) (11,313) 
518 4,296 

123,375 283,521 

(5,683,990) (109,967,403) 

(300,000) 
(34,868) (32,382) 

(334,866) (32,382) 

(24,349) 491,264 

928,488 437,224 

904,139 928,488 

Director 
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PAK BRUNEI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024 

1 

2 

2.1 

2.2 

STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS 

Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited (the Company) is a Development Finance Institution (OFt) which was 
incorporated in Pakistan as an unlisted public limited company on November 28, 2006 under the repealed Companies 
Ordinance, 1984 (now Companies Act, 2017). The State Bank of Pakistan (S8P) granted the approval for 
commencement of business with effect from August 20, 2007. The Company is a joint venture between the Government 
of Pakistan (GoP) and the Brunei Investment Agency (SIA). The Company's objectives inleralia include making 
investments in the industrial and agro-based industrial fields in Pakistan on a commercial basis through carrying out 
industrial and agro-based industrial projects and mariteting of their products in Pakistan and abroad and to undertake 
other feasible business and to establish and acquire companies to conduct various businesses. The registered office of 
the Company is situated at Horizon Vista, Plot no. Commercial 10, Block 4, Scheme 5, Clifton, Karachi, Pakistan. The 
Company is in operation with 2 offices (2023: 2) of which one located in Karachi and the other in Lahore. 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the fonnat of financial statements 
prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan (S8P) vide SPRD Circular No. 13 of 2024 dated July 01 , 2024 effective from 
the accounting year ended December 31 , 2024. 

Statement of compliance 

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards comprise of: 

Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017; 

Provisions of and directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962; 

Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017; and 

Directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan (S8P) and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 
(SEep). 

Whenever the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017, or the directives 
issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of tFRSs, the requirements of the Banking Companies 
Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail. 

2.3 The SBP through its aso Circular letter No. 11 dated September 11, 2002 has deferred the implementation of lAS 40 
'Investment Property' for Non-Banking Financial Institutions (NBFls) in Pakistan. Accordingly, the requirements of these 
standards have not been considered in the preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

2.4 Standards and Amendments to the accounting and reporting standards that are effective in the current year: 

The following amendments are effective for the year ended December 31, 2024. These amendments are either not relevant to 
the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant Impact on the Company's financial statements other than 
certain additional disclosures. 

Amendments to IFRS 16' Leases' -Clarification on how seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback 
transactions 

Amendments to lAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' • Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 
along with Non-current liabilities with Convenants 

Amendments to lAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and 'IFRS 7 'Financial instruments disclosures' - Supplier 
Finance Arrangements 

I~ 



I 
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2.5 Standard and amendments to the accounting and reporting aUlindarda that are not yet effective: 

'The following standard and amendments are effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date mentioned 
against each of them. These amendments are either not relevant to the Company's operations or are nol expected to 
have significant impact on the Company's financial statements other than certain additional disclosures. 

Effective date (annual period. 
Standards or amendments beginning on or after) 

Amendments to lAS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates'· January 01 , 2025 
Clarification on how entity accounts when there Is long leon lack of 
Exchangeability 

IFRS 17 - Insurance Cootracts ~ncluding the June 2020 and December 2021 
Amendments to IFRS 17) 

Amendments IFRS 9 'Financlal Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments 
disclosures' - Classification and measurement of financial Instruments 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (related to IFRS 1, IFRS 
7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and lAS 7 

Amendments IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments 
disclosures' - Contracts Referencing Nature-<iependent Electricity 

January 01. 2026 

January 01 , 2026 

January 01, 2026 

January 01 , 2026 

'Other than the aforesaid amendments, IASB has also issued the following standards which have nol been adopted 
locally by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan: 

IFRS 1 - 'First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards' 

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosures In Financial Statements 

IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disdosures 

2.6 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

~ 

The preparation of the unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan requires the management to make jUdgments, estimates and assumptions that affed the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and income and expenses. It also requires the management to exercise judgment in the 
application of its accounting policies. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on histoncal experierlCe and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised In the period In which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that perlod, or In the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

The estimates and undertying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future period if the revision affects both current and future periods. The estimates and judgments that have 
a significant effect on the unconsolidated financial statements are in respect of the following: 

Significant accounting estimates and areas where judgments were made by the management in the application of 
accounting policies are as fonows: 

;) 

iI) 

Iii) 

iv) 

,) 

vi) 

vii) 

viiI) 

ix) 

classification, valuation and proviSioning of investments (notes 4.2 and 7) 

classification and credit loss al10wance against non perfonning loans and advances (notes 4.2 , 8 and 29) 

provision fO( defined benefit plan (notes 4.11 and 35) 

tease liability and right-of·use assets (notes 4.6.2 and 10) 

laxation (notes 4.9 and 31) ••• 
Classification alld valuation of non current assets held-for-sale (notes 14) 

Credit loss allowance against off balance sheet obligations and contingent liabilities (note 21 and 18.1). 

Contingencies and commitments (note 21) ; and 

Depreciation, amortization and residual value of fixed asset and intangibles (note 9 and 11) 
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2.1 Separate financial statements 

3 

These unconsolidated financial statements represent the separate financial statements of the Company In which 
investment in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost. The consolidated financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries are presenled separately. 

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT 

3.1 Accounting convention 

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the 
following: 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are valued at lower of canying amount and fair value less cost to sell 

Certain investments are mar\(ed to maltet and carried at fair value; 

Obligation in respect of staff retirement benefit is carried al present value of defined benefit obligation; and 

lease liability against right-ot-use assets is carried at present value of rentals. 

Certain advances disbursed at lower than malte! rate have been carried at fair value in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS - g. 

3.2 US Doliar equivalent 

The US dollar amounts shown in the unconsolidated statement of financial position, unconsolidated statement of profit 
and loss account, unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income and unconsolidated cash flow statement are 
provided as additional information solely for the convenience of users of financial statements. For the purpose of 
conversion to US Dollars, the rate of Rs. 278.55 to US Dollars has been used fO( 2024 and 2023 as it was the prevalent 
rale on December 31, 2024. 

3.3 Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the unconsolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates. These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistan 
Rupee which is the Companys functional and presentation currency. 

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements are COflsistent with 
those of the previous financial year except for those mentioned in note 4. 1. 

4.1 ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING POLICY 

4.1 .1 Accounting for minimum taxes and final taxes 

During May 2024, The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) issued a guide 'lAS 12 Applicalion 
Guidance on Accounting for Minimum taxes and Final taxes' (the Guide) to provide guidance on accounting of minimum 
tax and final tax, as mentioned in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, under the requirements of relevant IFRS Accounting 
Standards and provide appropriate approaches 10 account for minimum taxes and final taxes in compliance with the 
requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards.The guide was issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan 
(ICAP) in May 2024 'lAS 12 Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum taxes and Final taxes' (the guide). 

In view of the clarifications from ICAP. it has been established that minimum tax and final taxes do not meet the criteria 
of income tax expense as per lAS 12 (as these are not based on taxable profits), hence, it should be accounted for 
under IFRIC 21 'Levies' and lAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets'. 

The Guide issued by ICAP provides approaches to account for minimum and final regime taxes according to the facts 
and circumstances as applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has adopted the following approach: 

,t, The Company first designates Ihe amount calculated on taxable income using the notified tax rate as an income tax 
within the scope of lAS 12 'Income Taxes' and recognise it as current income tax expense. Any excess over the amount 
designated as income tax, is then recognised as a levy falling under.'the scope of IFRIC 21 'levlesnAS 37' Provisions, 
Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
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Therefore, the effective rate of income lax Is equal to the enacted rate of income tax and and the deferred tax will be 
calculated at such rate. 

Similarly, any amount deducted as finallaxes will be classified as 8 levy In the unconsolidated statement of profit and 
loss account and there would be no deferred tax liability I (asset) recognised in case of final taxes. 

Super tax charged to entilies as per provisions of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 , will be classified as either 'income Tax' 
or 'levy' in accordance with guidance provided in the guide ~ .e . if super tax calculation is based on taxable profits as 
defined in lAS 12, then, such super tax shall be recognised as 'income lax' otherwise such super tax shall qualify for 
recognition as 'levy' as per IFRte 21 l iAS 37). 

Advance taxes paid under any section of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. except minimum taxes paid under section 
113, which are tenned as levy as per the above guide will be classified as 'prepaid assels'. 

The above changes have been accounted for in these unconsolidated financial statements as per the requirements of 
lAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes In Accounting Estimates and Errors'. The adoption of this policy did not result in re­
statement of financial slatements since deferred tax liability recognised in the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
already at enacted rate and the application of this guide did not result any material differences except for 
reclassifications which are presented as below: 

Effect on statement of profit and loss account: 

For the year ended December 31, 2023 

Taxation: 
- Current year 

levies: 
-Final tax 
Minimum tax 

•. 2 IFRS 9 • 'Flnanclalln.tnJmenll' 

4.2.1 IniUal recognition and measurement 

Current Prevlou. 
Classification Cla •• iflcatlon 

- (Rupees In '000) -

.1,167 

042,740 
278,323 

3&2,230 

362,230 

362,230 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, the date on which the 
Company purchase or sell the asset. Other financial assets and liabilities like advances, lending to financial institutions, 
deposits etc. are recogniSed wtlen funds are transferred to the customers' account or financial institutions. However, for 
cases, where funds are transferred on deferred payment basis, recognition Is completed when undertying asset is 
purchased. The Company will recognise, due to customer and financiallnstitutJon balances when these funds reach the 
Company. 

Amortised cost 

Financial assets and liabilities under amortised cost category are Initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly 
attributable transaction cost. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost. An expected credit loss allowance 
(ECl) is recognised for financial assets in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. Interest income J 
expense on these assets I lIabllitles are recognised in the unconsolJdated statement of profit and loss account. On 
derecognition of these financial assets and liabilities, capital gain I loss will be recognised In the unconsolidated profit 
and loss accounL 

Fair value through other comprehensive Income 

Financial assets under FVOCI category are-;nitially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction 
cosl These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes recorded in OCI. An expected aedit loss 
allowance (ECl) is recognised for Ihese final"lCial assets in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. 
Interest I dividend Income on these assets are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. On 
derecognition of these financial assets, capital gain J loss is recognised In the other comprehensive income. 
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4.2.2 

Fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets under FVTPL category are initially recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are directly recorded in 
the unconsolidated profit and loss account. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes 
recorded in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. Interest I divIdend income on these assets are 
recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. On derecognition of Ihese financial assets, capital 
gain f loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. All expected credit loss allowance 
(EeL) is nol recognised for these financial assets. 

Interest free I below market rate loans to employees 

Initial recognition 

The company recognise interest freel below market rate loan to employee at its fair value by discounting the future loan 
repayments using the rate that the employee would pay to an unrelated lender for a loan with similar conditions and 
accordingly charging differential to the unconsolidated statement profit and loss account between nominal value and fair 
value of loan. 

Subsequent measurement 

The company calculates and recognises imputed interest on these loans. Imputed Interest represents the fO(gone 
interest that employees would have paid if they had borrowed funds from external sources at prevailing market rates. 
The difference between the actual interest charged , if any and the imputed interest is recognised as interest income by 
the Company over the term of the loan. 

4.2.3 Cerecognltlon 

4.2.4 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when: 

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 

it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either: 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or 

the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not 
retain control of the financial asset. 

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its unconsolidated statement of financial 
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the 
transferred assets are not derecognised. 

Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired. 
The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
1iability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair 
value. 

On derecognilion of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration 
paid (including any non~sh assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of 
profit and loss account. 

Modification 

The Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of financing to its customers. 
When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified and the renegotiation or 
modification does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, the Company 
recalculate the gross ~rrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognise a modification gain or loss in the 
unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. The gross carrying amount of the finaneia.1 asset is recalculated as 
the present value of the nrnegotiated or modified contractual cash flows that are discounted at the financial asset's 
original effective profit rate (or credit-adjusted effective profit rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets). Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the 
remaining term of the modified financial asset. 
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4.2.5 Off setting 

I 4.2.6 

I 
4.2.7 

4.2.8 

I 

~ 
I 

Financial assets and financial liabitities are only offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amount and the Company intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provision of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual right future cash flows 
from the asset expires or is transferred along with the risk and reward of the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when obligation specific in the contract discharge, cancel or expire. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial 
asset and liability is recognised In the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account of the current 'lear. 

Derivative financial Instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is 
entered Into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivative financial Instruments are carried as asset 
when fair value is positive and liabilities when fair value is negative. Any change in the value of derivative financial 
instruments is taken to the unconsolidated slatement of profit and loss account. 

Overview of the ECl principles 

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses f ECl1 assodated with all advances and 
other debt financial assets not held at FVTPl, together with letter of credit, guarantees and unutilised financing 
commitments hereinafter referred to as ·Financial Instruments·. The Company recognises a loss allowance for such 
losses al each reporting date. The measurement of ECl reflects: 

At! unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is detennined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; 

The time value of money; and 

Reasonable and supportable infonnation that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about 
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

The ECl allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit 
loss or l TEel), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the 
allowance is based on the 12 months' expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined below. 

The 12mECl is the portion of lTECls that represent the ECls that result from default events on a financial instrument 
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both lTECls and 12mECls are calculated at individual 
customer level. 

The Company has established a policy to perfonn an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk 
of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. The Company considers an exposure to have 
significantly increased in credit risk when there is considerable deterioration in the internal rating grade for subject 
customer. The Company also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for 
an asset, such as moving a customer I facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. Regardless of the 
change in credit grades, generally, the Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when 
contractual payments are more than 60 days past due. However. for certain portfolios, the Company may rebut 60 DPD 
presumption based on behavioural analysis of its borrowers. When estimating Eels on a collective basis for a group of 
similar assets, the Company applies the similar principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. 

• 
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Based on the above process, the Company groups its financial instruments into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and 
purchased or originated credit impaired (POCl), as described below: 

Stage 1: 

Stage 2: 

Stage 3: 

POCI: 

Undrawn 
financing 

Guarantee 
and letters of 
credit 
contracts 

When financial inslruments are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 
12mECLs. Stage 1 financiallnstrumenls also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and 
they have been reclassified from Stage 2. The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs thai 
represent the Ee ls that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 
12 months after the reporting dale. The Company calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the 
expeclation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. These expected 12-
month default probabilities are applied to a forecast exposure at default (EAO) and multiplied by the 
expected loss given default (LGO) and discounted by an approximation to the Ofiginal effective interest 
rate (EIR). This calculation is made for all the scenarios. 

When a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the 
Company records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 also indudes facilities, where the credit risk 
has improved and Ihe instrument has been reclassified from Stage 3. The mechanics are similar to 
those explained above, including the use of multiple scenarios, but probability of defaults (PDs) are 
applied over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an 
approximation 10 the original effective interest rate (EIR). 

For financial instruments considered credit-impaired, the Company recognises the lifetime expected 
credit losses for these instruments. The Company uses a probability of default (PD) of 100% and loss 
given default (LGO) as computed for each portfolio or as prescribed by the SSP under the prudential 
regulations which ever is higher. 

Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on 
initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and profit I rental is 
subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECls are only recognised or released to the 
extent that there Is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn financings commitments, the Company estimates the expected 
portion of the financings commitment that will be drawn down over its expeded life. The ECl is then 
based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash nows if the financings is drawn down, 
based on a probability-weighting of the three scenarios. For revolving facilities that include both a 
financings and an undrawn commitment, ECls are calculated and presented within other liabilities. 

The Company estimates ECls based on the BASEL driven credit conversion factor (CCF) for Guarantee 
and letter of credit contracts. The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the three 
scenarios. The ECls related to guarantee and letter of credit contracts are recognised within other 
liability. 

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset or financial liabilities to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of 
a financial liability 

The calculation of Eels 

The Company calculates Eels based on a three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are 
due to a Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expeds to receive. 

The mechanics of the ECl calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

PO The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A defaull may only 
happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still 
in the portfolio. PD is estimated based on statistical technique such as Markolls Chain Process - Transition 
Matrix Approach which are based on the Company's intemal risk ratings (I.e. from 1 to 12). POs for Non advances 
portfolio, the Company has used POs prescribed by Standard and Poor's (S&Ps) against each risk raling. POs 
are then adjusted using Vasicek Model for IFRS 9 ECl calculations to incorporate forward looking information . 

• 
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EAD The Exposure al Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default dale, taking Into account expected 
changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and profit, whether scheduled 
by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed 
payments. The maximum period for which the credit losses are detennined is the contractual life of a financial 
instrument unless the Company has the legal right 10 call it earlier. The Company's product offering includes a 
variety of corporate facilities, in which the Company has the right to cancel and I or reduce the facil ities with one 
day notice. However, in case of revolving facilities, the Company does not limit its exposure to credit losses 10 the 
contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECl over a period that reflects the Company's expectatlons of 
the customer behavior, its likelihood of default and the Company's future risk mitigation procedures, which could 
include reducing or cancelling the facilities. 

lGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It Is 
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to 
receive, including from the realisation of any collatera1. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. 

The discount rate used to discount the ECLs is based on the effective profit rate that is expected to be charged over the 
expected period of exposure to the facilities. In the absence of computation of the effective profit rate (at reporting date), 
the Company uses an approximation e.g. contractual rate (at reporting date). 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible. The Company 
considers only those collaterals as eligible collaterals in the EAD calculation which have the following characteristics: 

History of legal certainty and enforceability 

History of enforceability and recovery. 

When estimating the ECLs, the Company considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside, a downside). Each of 
these is associated with different POs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also Incorporales how 
defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral 
or the amount thai might be received for selling the assel. 

Forward looking Infonnatlon 

In its ECL models, the Company relies on a range of fOlWard looking infonnation as economic inputs, such as: 

GOP growth 
Consumer price index 

Definition of default 

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit impaired, 
when it meets one or more of the following criteria: 

The customer is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. 

Further the following criteria has been determined for assessment of default: 

The Company makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived decline in credit quality 
subsequent to the Company taking on the exposure, 

The Company sells the credit obligation at a malerial credit-related economic loss, 

The Company consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is likely to result in a 
diminished financial obligation caused by the material forgiveness, or postponement, of principal, interest or 
(where relevant) fees, 

The Company has filed for the obligor's bankruptcy or a similar order in respect of the obligor's credit obligation to 
the industry group, and 

The obligor has sought or has been placed in Bankruptcy or similar protection where this would avoid or delay 
repayment of the credit obligation to the industry group. 
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4.2.9 Write-off. 

The Company's accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under SSP regulations. 

4.2.10 Impalnnent 

The adoption of IFRS g has fundamentally changed the Company's accounting for Impairment losses for financial assets 
from Prudential Regulations issued by SSP with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECl) approach. IFRS 9 requires 
the Company to record an a110wance for ECl for all financial assets other than debt instruments classified as FVTPL and 
equity instruments classified as FVTPl or FVOCI. 

Impairment of investments In subsidiaries and allociatea 

The Company considers that a dedine in the recoverable value of its Investments in subsidiaries and associates below 
their cost may be evidence of Impalnnent. Recoverable value is calculated as the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. An Impalnnent loss is recognised when the recoverable amount falls below the carrying value and is 
charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. Any subsequent reversal of an impainnent loss, up 
to the cost of the investment in subsidiaries and associates is credited to the ullCOnsolidated statement of profit and loss 
account. 

Impalnnent of non-financial .lIet. (excluding deferred tax) 

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (other than deferred tax asset) are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any Indication of impairment. If such an Indication exists and where the carrying value 
exceeds the estimated recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and any resuHant 
impairment losses are recognised immediately in the ullCOnsolidated statement of profit and loss account. 

4.3 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement represent cash in hand, balances with treasury banks, 
balances with other banks In current and deposit accounts and short-term highly liquid Investments with original 
maturities of three months or less. 

4.4 Lendings to I borrowings from financial and other InstJtotlons 

The Company enters into repurchase agreements (repo) and reverse repurchase agreements (reverse repo) at 
contracted rates for a specified period of lime. These are recorded as under. 

(a) Sale of securities under repurchase agreements 

Securities sold with a simuhaneous commitment to repurchase al 8 specified future dale (repos) continue to be 
recognised in Ihe unconsolidated financial statements and are measured in accordance with accounting poiicies 
for investment securities. The counlerparty liability for amounts received under these 8greemenls is included in 
borrowings. The difference between sale and repurchase price is trealed as mark-up I return I interest expense 
and accrued over the iife of Ihe repo agreement using effective interest rate method. 

(b) Purchase of securities under resale agreements 

Securities purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos) are nol 
recognised in the unconsolidated financial statements as the Company does nol obtain control over the 
securilies. Amounts paid under Ihese agreements are included in lendings to financiallnstltutions. The difference 
between purchase and resale price is trealed as mark-up I re turn I interest income and accrued over the life of the 
reverse repo agreement using effective interest rate method. 

4.5 Investments in subsidiaries and associates 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are valued at cost less impairment, if any. A reversal of an impainnent loss 
on subsidiaries and associates is recognised to the extent that the increased carrying value does not exceed cost. 

" 
Gains and losses on disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates are included In the unconsolidated 
statement of prolit and loss account in the period in which disposal is made. 



I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 

I 

4.6 Property and equipment and depreciation 

4.6.1 Tangible assets - owned 

4.6.2 

Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, jf any. 
Depreciation is charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account using the straight line method at the 
rales staled in note 9 after taking into account residual values, if any. The residual values, useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting dale. Depreciation is charged from the date when 
the asset is available for use white no depreciation is charged on the dale the assells disposed of. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's canying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the 
item can be reliably measured. All other repair and maintenance expenditure are charged to the unconsolidated 
statement of profit and loss account as and when incurred. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount Is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gain I loss on disposal of fixed assets is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account in the 
period in which disposal is made. 

lease liability and right-of-use assets 

On initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at an amounl equal to iniUallease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made alar before the commencement date, plus any initial costs incurred and an estimate of costs to be 
incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or the site on which it Is located. 

Right-of-use assets are subsequently stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation I accumulated impairment 
losses and are adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability. The remeasurement of lease liability will only occur in 
cases where the tenns of the lease are changed during the lease tenure. 

Right-of-use assets are depreCiated over their expected useful lives using the straight-line method. Depreciation on 
additions (new leases) Is charged from the day on which leases are entered into. No depreciation is charged from the 
day Ofl which the leases mature or are terminated. 

The lease liabilities are initially measured as the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit In the lease, or If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The lease 
liability is also measured to reflect any remeasurement or change in lease terms. These remeasurement of lease 
liabilities are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of related right-of-use assets after the date of initial 
recognition. 

Each lease payment is allocated between a reduction of the liability and a finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account as financial charges over the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

4.6.3 Capital wor1cAn-progress 

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. All expenditure connected with 
specific assets incurred during the installation and construction I development period is carried under this head. These 
are transferred to the relevant categories of assets as and when assets become available for use. 

4.6.4 IntangIble assets and amortisation 

• 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method at the rate stated in note 11.1 . The residual values, useful 
lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date. Amortisation is 
charged from the date the asset is available for use While no amortisation is charged on the date the asset is disposed 
~ 0 • 
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Subsequent costs are inctuded in the asset's carrying amounts or recognised as a separate assel, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. 

Gains and losses on disposals, if any, are taken to the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account in the period 
In which these arise. 

Assets classified as held-for-sale 

The Company classifies an asset as held-for-sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate sate in 
its present condition subject only to lenns thai are usual and customary for sale of such assets and its sale must be 
highly probable. For the sale to be highly probable, Ihe appropriate level of management musl be committed 10 a plan to 
sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been 
initiated. Further, the asset must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relalian to its current fair 
value. In addition, the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the 
date of classification and actions required to complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes 
to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. 

A held-for-sale asset is carried at the lower of its canying amount and the fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account for any initial or subsequent write down of the 
asset to fair value less costs to sell. Subsequent gains in fair value less costs to sell are recognised to the extent these 
do not exceed the cumulative impairment losses previously recorded. An asset is not depreciated while classified as 
held for sale. 

Assets acquired In satisfaction of claims 

The Company occasionally acquires assets In settlement of certain advances. These are stated at the lower of the net 
realisable value of the related advances or the fair value of such assets. 

Taxation 

CUrrent 

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the enacted I corporate tax rate after taking into 
account tax credits and rebates available, if any, as per the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. 

ii. Deferred 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences at the reporting date between tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their canying amounts for financial reporting purposes after considering, the 
average effective rate of tax. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax asset is recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences and carried forward unused tax losses, if any, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which such temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at average tax rate that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled. 

l."Y 

A levy is an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that is imposed by govemments on entities in 
accordance with legislation (I.e. laws andlor regulations), other than: 

(a) those outflows of resources that are within the scope of other standards. 

(b) fines or other penalties that are imposed for breaches of the legislation. 

In these financial statements, levy includes minimum taxes differential. jf any, final laxes and supertaxes which are 
based on other than taxable profits. The corresponding advance lax paid , except for minimum taxes under section 
113, which are treated as levy are recognised in prepaid assets as 'prepaid assets'[1t can be changed depending on 
entity's specific cases). 



I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

4.10 

I 4.11 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 4.12 

I ~ 

I. Revenue taxes 

Revenue taxes includes amount representing excess of : 

a} minimum tax paid under section 113 over income tax determined on income streams taxable at general 
rate of taxation and; 

b) minimum tax withheld I collected I paid or computed over tax liability computed on (related income tax 
streams taxable at general rate of tax), is not adjustable against tax liability of subsequent lax years. 

Amount over income tax determined on income streams taxable at general rate of taxation shall be treated as 
revenue taxes. 

The company determines, based on expected future taxable profits, that excess paid under section 113 by the entity 
over and above its tax liability (on income stream(s) taxable al general rate of taxation) is expected to be realized in 
subsequent tax years, then, such excess shall be recorded as deferred tax asset adjustable against tax liability for 
subsequent tax years. This shall be recognized as 'deferred tax asset' for the reason that it represents unused tax 
credit as it can be adjusted only against tax liability (of subsequent tax years) arising on taxable income subject to 
general rate of taxation. Such an asset shall be subject to requirements contained in lAS 12 'Income Tax' 

II. Final Taxes 

Final taxes includes tax charged I withheld I paid on certain income streams under various prOvisions of Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001 (Ordinance) . Final tax is charged I computed under the Ordinance, without reference to income 
chargeable to tax at the general rate of tax and final tax computed I withheld Of paid for a tax year Is construed as 
final tax liability for the related stream of Income under the Ordinance. 

Final lax paid is considered to be full and final discharge of the lax liability for the Company for a tax year related to 
that income stream. 

Borrowings I deposits 

Borrowings I deposits are recorded at the time when proceeds are received. The cost of borrowings I deposits is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred using the effective interest rale method. 

Staff retirement benefits 

Defined benefit plan . staff gratuity fund 

The Company operates a funded gratuity scheme for its eligible permanent employees. The liability recognised in the 
unconsolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity scheme, is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets. Contributions to the fund are made 
on the basis of actuarial recommendations. The Projected Unit Credit Method is used fOf actuarial valuations. Valuations 
are conducted by an independent actuary with the last valuation conducted as at December 31 , 2024. 

Current service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resutting from employee 
service in the current period and recognised as an expense to the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. 
Past service cost is the change in the present value of defined benefit obligation resulting from a plan amendment or 
curtailment and is recognised as an expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account when the plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs. Actuarial gains and losses that arise out of experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income with no subsequent recycling through the 
unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. 

Defined contribution plan· staff provident fund 

The Company operates a provident fund scheme for its employees. Equal monthly contributions are made into the fund 
both by the Company and the employees at the rate of 10% of basic salary. 

Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are oecognised when the Company has a present, legal or constructiveoobligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are re .... iewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
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4.13 

4.14 

4.15 

4.16 

4.17 

Contingent assels are not recognised and are also not disclosed unless an inftow of economic benefits is probable. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised and are disclosed unless the probability of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remole. 

Commitments 

Commitments contracted 10f but nol incurred are disclosed in the unconsolidated financial statements at committed 
amounts. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue Is recognised to the extent that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company 
and the amount can be measured reliably. 

Mal1t-up I return I interest income on advances and investments Is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into 
account effective yield on the Instruments except in case of advances and investments classified as non-performing 
under the SBP's Prudential Regulations on which mark-up I return I interest is recognised on a receipt basis. 

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive dividend is established. 

Fee, commission alld brokerage income and remuneration for truslee alld advisory services are recognised as 
services are relldered. 

Premium or discount on debt securities is amortised using the effective interesl rale method. 

Gains and losses on disposal of assets are recognised in the period In which these arise. 

Return on bank deposits Is recognised on a lime proportion basis using the effective interest rate method. 

Rental Income Is recognised on accrual basis. 

Eamlngs per share 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for its shareholders. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is detennined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, if any. 

Foreign currency transactlonl 

Foreign currency Itansactions are translated into the functional currency using the exdlange rates prevailing on the 
dates of transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monelary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised In the unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account. 

Proposed dividends and tranlfers between reserves 

Dividends declared and transfers between reserves made subsequent to the reporting date are considered as non­
adjusting events and are recognised in the unconsolidated financial statements In the period In which such dividends 
are declared I transfers are made. 

4.18 Segment reportIng 

• 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing product or services 
(business segment) Of in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical 
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. 

The Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker who is responsible for allocating 
resources alld asseSSing the perfonnance of the operating segments. 
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4.18.2 

5 

Buslnes •• egments 

Corporate flnance 

Corporate finance includes seNices provided in connection with mergers and acquisitions, underwriting, privatisation, 
securilisation , research , debts (government, high yield corporate bonds, etc.), equity, syndication. initial public offering 
(IPO) and secondary private placements, 

Trading and .ales 

This includes fixed income. equity, foreign exchange, commodities, credit, funding, lending. repos and brokerage 
activities. 

Commercial banking 

Commercial banking includes project finance, real estate, export finance, trade finance. factOl'ing, leasing, lending, 
guarantees, bill of exchange and deposits. 

Geographical segments 

The operations of the Company are currently based only in Pakistan. 

CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS 

Cash in hand 
With State Bank of Pakistan in: 

local currency current account 
Credit loss allowance held against cash and balances with treasury banks 

Cash and balances with treasury banks - net of credit loss allowance 

2024 2023 
Note ---Rupeelln '000--

5.1 796,300 688,559 

796,300 688,559 

5,1 This includes RI, 533.23 million (2023: RI . 225.825 million) held as minimum cash reserve required to be maintained 
with the SBP In accordance with the requirements issued from time 10 Ume. 

6 BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS 

In Pakistan 
In deposit accounts 
In current accounts 
less: Credit loss allowance held against balances with other banks 

Balances with other banks - net of credit loss allowance 

Note 

6.1 

2024 2023 
--Rupees In '000--

107,739 239,829 
100 100 

__ --'("'-1) __ --'(""-2) 

107,838 239,927 

I 6.1 

~ 
These carry marX-up rales of 5.02% 10 13.50% per annum (2023: 20.50% to 20.51 % per annum). 

I 



7 INVESTMENTS 

7.1 Invutmlonls by type: 

Debt Instruments 

Classified I Measured at FVPL 

Federal government securities 

Non Government debt securities 

Classified I Measured at FVOCI 

Federal goverrvnent MClJrities 

Non-govemment debt securities 

Equity Instruments 

Classified I Measured at FVOCI 
(Non ·Reclasstflable) 
Shams 

Llsled companies 

Subsidiaries 

Primus leasing limited 

A_al Corporate Restructuring 
Company Umited 

Total investments 

Note 

7.3 

7.3 

- - - - - -
2024 2023 

Cost I amortised Credit loss Surplus I 
Carrying value Cost I amortised Credit loss Surplus I Carrying value cost allowance (deficit) cost allowance (deficit) 

Rupees In 'OOO 

2,438,340 10,660 2,449,000 

2,188,545 (17,692) 2,170,853 
4,626,885 (7,032) ",619,853 

159,681,183 490,282 160,171,465 154,083,594 (1,754,419) 152,329,175 

121,780 (227.788) 593,994 541 ,655 (255,515) 286,140 

160,502,963 (227,786) 490,282 160,765,459 154,625,249 (255,515) (1,754,419) 152,615,315 

165,129,848 (227,786) 483,250 165,385,312 157,823,744 (255,515) (1 ,766,851) 155,801,378 

979,472 366,571 1,346,043 639,085 322,231 961 ,316 

1,000,000 . . 
1,000,000 I " ~'~ I 

. 

I 
. 

I t '~'~ 1 
1,D16,707 . . . . 1,016,707 . 908,372 908,372 

2,016,707 2,016,707 1,908,372 1,908,372 

1&8,126,027 (227,788) 849,821 168,748,062 160,371,201 (255,515) (1 ,4«,620) 158,671,066 

• The Company has shares of Pakistan Mercantile Exchange limited which were acquired at a cost of Rs. 21 .3 million were fuJly provided, On adoption of IFRS 9, the cost has been net 
off by provision. 

7.1.1 This Includes privately placed Corporate Sukuks and Tem Finance Certificates (TFCs) amounting to Rs. 2,061 .95 million (2023: Rs. 1,791 .84 million) which are carried at cost as their 
market value is not readily available from Mutual Fund Association of Pakistan (MUFAP). 

~ 

-
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7.2 Inve.tments by legments: 

Fed .... 1 go"mment 
•• eurltlea 

Mllrket Treasul)I awls 

Pakistan Investmenl Bonds 

51'11rH 

Uslecl companies 

NOn1l0Vlmmlnt debt 
.. curitl •• 

Usted 

Unlisted 

Sub,ldl,rt .. 

Prlmusle.mg Linlted 
AwwaI CorporiIle 
Res~ Company 
L>n ... 

Tot,llnv •• tm,ntl 

202. 

Cost I 
Credillo .. 

Fair Valul f 
amortised 

aliowancI Surplus I Carrying 
Imortilltd 

1M (deficit) valu. 
co.t 

dimInution 
COlt 

RUP"lln '000 

2,144,230 · 17,566 2,6S1 ,196 17,728,1004 

159,275,83 · 483,376 159,758,669 137,355,422 

162,111,523 500,942 18Z,120,465 155,083,525 

179,472 366,571 1,3-4s.o.3 639,085 

3,010,325 (227,7111 (H ,19Z) 2,714,141 2,740,218 

1,000,000 · . 1,000,000 1,000,000 

1.018707 · . 10HI707 908,372 

2,011,707 2,011,707 1,908,372 

118,121,027 (227,718) "'9,121 118,748,012 160,371,201 

2023 

Credit 10 .. 
allowancl Surplus I Carrylng 

'0' (d.flcit) valul 
diminution 

· 3,417 17,731 ,521 

· (1,759,068) 135,596,35<4 

(1 .755,651) 153,327,875 

322,231 961,316 

(255,515) (11 ,200) 2,473,503 

· . 1,000,000 

· . 908,372 

1,908,372 

(255,515) ( 1 ,~4 ,620) 158,671 ,066 

7.2.1 Inve.tmentlliillven a. collateral 

~ 

Pakistln investment Bonds 
Term ftnance certit\cltes I 
sukuks certffieates 
Ordinary shares 

Coat i .m_ 
'co, 

11,703,613 

519,818 
149,050 

11,422,481 

2024 

Surplual 
(deficit) 

(141 ,013) 

151,734 

15,151 

2023 

Carrying 
Cost I 

Surplus I Carrying 
amortlHd 

value 'co, (deficit) value 

RUPHa In '000 

18,562,530 131 ,100,838 (1,671 ,341 ) 129,429,497 

519,81 8 699,826,000 (49,213) 699,776,787 

305.714 73,718 43.372 117.090 

11,438,132 831 ,000,556 !1,677,1821 829.323,374 

Above debt securities are pledged against the repurchase borrowings, while shares are pledged' with National Clearing 
Company Pakistan limited (NCCPl) against ready market exposure. 

Market Treasury Bills cany effective yield of 17.69% to 23.10% (2023: Nil) per annum and will mature on 12 months. (2023: Nil). 
Pakistan Investment Bonds cany martt~p ranging between 8.75% to 24.79% (2023: 7.00% to 16.97%) per annum on a semi­
annual basis and will mature within 16 years (2023: 16 years). Certain government securities are kepi with the SBP to meet the 
statutory liquidity requirement calculated on the basis of demand and time liab!!itles. 
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7.3 Summary of financial infonnation of subsidiarles 

Investment In 
subsidiaries 

Primus Leasing 
limited 

A....wal Corporate 
Restructuring 
Company Limited 

Investment in 
subsidiaries 

Primus leasing 
Limited 

Awwal Corporate 
RestrudlJring 
Company limited 

Percentage 
of hold ing 

. 

100 

100 

Percentage 
of holding 

100 

100 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Pakistan 

Pakistan 

Country of 
incorporation 

Pakistan 

Pakistan 

2024 

Total 
Total asset s Revenue 

liabilities 

Rupees In 'ODD 

3,370,395 2,066,170 543,381 

1,148,435 47,905 187,504 

2023 

Total 
Total assets Revenue 

liabilities 

Rupees In '000 

2.886,680 1,760,063 51 2,41 1 

1,125,383 32,551 169,646 

7,4 Credit loIS allowance for diminution In value of investments 

7,4 ,1 Investments· exposure 

2024 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Profit I (loss) 
Total 

comprehensive Cost 
after tax 

Income I (los. ) 

m.848 1TI,607 1,000,000 

&4,652 65,247 1,01 6,707 

2,01 6,707 

Profit/(Io,,) 
Total 

comprehensive Cost atter tax 
Income f (loss) 

187,145 187,145 1,000,000 

63,075 63.024 906,372 

1,906,372 

II 2023 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

___ ______ _ Rupeesln '000 - - --------

I 

I ~ 
I 
I 
I 

Opening balance 

New investments 

Investments derecognised or repaid 

Transfer to stage 1 

Transfer to stage 2 

Transfer to stage 3 

Amounts written off / charged Off 

Closing balance 

160,030,792 

1,074,467,6" · 
(1,066,704,154) · 

· · 
· 30,569 

· · 
7,763,527 3u,569 

167,794,31 9 30,569 

340,409 46,635,762 394,120 

· 393,250,797 · · 
(6,700) (260,055,767) · (7,616) 

· · · · 
(30,569) · · · 

· · · · 
(39,2blll 11~,195,03u · (7,618) 

(45,893) 

301 ,140 160,030,792 340,409 
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7.4.2 Investments · Credit loss allowance 

Gross canying amount· Current year 

Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9 
New investments 
Investments derecognised Of repaid 

Transfer to stage 1 
Transfer to stage 2 
Transfer to stage 3 

Amounts wtitten off I charged off 

Closing balance - Current year 

2024 
Stage 1 II S13ge 2 II 

7 

· · 
70 · 
· · 
· · 
· 10,71 9 

· · 
70 10,719 

77 10,719 

7.4.3 Particulars of credit loss al10wance against debt securities 

Performing Stage 1 

Underperfonning Stage 2 

Non·Performing Stage 3 

Substandard 
Doubtful 
Loss 

7.5 Quality of securities 

Stage 3 II Stage 1 II Stage 2 II Stag. 3 
2023 

Rupe •• ln '000 

255,508 

· 
· 

(8,700) 

· 
(29,818) 

· 
(38,518) 

216,990 

2024 

Outstanding 
amount 

· 

· 
· 
· 
· 

Credit 
10 •• 

7 

7 

7 

a llowance 
held 

· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 

2023 

289,647 

· 
· 

(7,818) 

· 
· 
-

(7,818) 

(26,321) 

255,508 

Credit 10" 
Outstanding allowance 

amount held 

------Rupees In '000 ------

164,828,708 

301,140 

165,129,848 

77 157,483,335 
10,719 

216,990 340,409 

227,786 157,823,744 

7 

255,508 

255,515 

Details regarding quality of securities held under ~Herd to Collect and Sell~ model 

7.5.1 Federal government securities· Govemment guaranteed 

I 
I ~ 

I 

I 

Mar1<et Treasury Bills 

Pakistan Investment Bonds 

2024 2023 
COlt 

Rupees In '000 -

2,844,230 17,728,104 

159,275,293 137,355,0422 

162,119,523 155,083,526 
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7.5.2 Ordinary shares 

7.5.3 

~ 

LIsted companies 
Oil and gas marketing I exploration companies 
Commercial banks 
Power generation and distribution 

Cement 
Engineering 
Textile composite 

Ali shares are ordinary shares of Rs. 10. 

Unlisted companlu 

Pakistan Mercantile Exchange limited· 

"This investment has been fully provided. 

Non-govemment debt securities 

Listed 
-AM 
· AA+, M,AA· 
• A+, A, A-

-eec and below 

Unlisted 

- AM 
- AA+, AA, M-
- A+, A, A-

- eec and below 

- Unrated 

2024 

2024 2023 
Cost 

- Rupees in '000-

152.863 
469,017 
167,342 
190,250 

979,472 

2023 

48.9n 
590,108 

639.085 

II Breakup COlt 
II value 

II Breakup 
II value 

Rupees In '000 

2024 2023 
COl t 

Rupees In '000 

286,105 
948,375 948,375 

14,361 104,361 

962,736 1,248,841 

100,000 
1,240,169 1,099,765 

475,000 150,422 
126,920 135,690 
105,500 105,500 

2,().47,589 1,491 ,377 
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7.5.4 Equity securities 

LIsted 

0 11 and gas marketing I exploration companies 
Pak Oilfields limited 

Commercial banks 

Meezan Bank limited 
National Bank of Pakistan 

Bank A1-Falah limited 

United Bank Limited 
Bank AI-Habib limited 

Banklslaml Pakistan Limited 

Power generation and distribution 
The Hub Power Company limited 
Kat Addu Power Company Limited 

Nisha! Power limited 

Fertilizer 
Fauji Fertilizer Company limited 

Unlisted 

Pakistan Mercantile Exchange Limited 

8 ADVANCES 

loans, cash credits, running 

finances, etc. 

Advances· gross 

•. , 21 ,070,870 19,534,991 

21,070,870 19,534,991 

Non-perfonnlng 
2024 II 2023 

Rupees In '000 

1,069,645 1,124,«6 

1,069,645 1,124,«6 

2024 2023 
COlt 

- - Rupees In '000 -

152,863 

14,575 
82,123 

125,31W 
149,050 

112.460 
34,402 

234,875 

133,726 148,659 

33,616 206,574 

190,250 

979.472 639,085 

II 
Tobit 

2024 II 2023 

22,140,515 20,659,437 

22,140,515 20,659,437 

·Stage, 
·Stage 2 
-Stage 3 

61 ,61 9 58,874 ~~ 

L_':-9-,'7:.,2.,.3JL _-:'::9-,'7 __ 3·,-J~~IL_-'.!,,"-"'-'L--'''''= 
61 ,619 58,874 
19,723 19,736 

917,81 6 970.926 

81 ,3.42 78,610 917,816 970,926 999,158 1,049,536 

Advances· net of credit loll allowance 20,989,528 19,456,381 151 ,829 153,520 21,141 ,357 19,609,901 
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8.1 This indudes net investment in finance lease as disclosed below: 

2024 2023 
Not later later than Over five Total Not later Later than Overflv. Total 
than one one and yeal'1 than one on. and years 

year less than year I ••• than 
five ye.rs five years 

Rupees In '000 

leas. rentals receivable 98,676 285,237 383,913 410,151 154,001 564,152 
Residual value 170,764 110,697 281 ,461 153,905 117,626 271 ,531 

Minimum lease payments 269,440 395,934 665,374 564,056 271,627 835,683 

Financial charges for future 
(258) (51,431) (51,689) (66,745) (15,981) (S2,72G) periods 

Present value of minimum 
269,'82 344,503 613,685 497,311 255,64& 752,957 lease payments 

8.1,1 These leases are executed for a term of 1 to 5 years, Security deposits have been obtained within a range of 10% 10 50% (2023: 10% to 
50%) of the cost of investment at the time of disbursement and have been recorded in other liabilities, The rale of retum ranges from 9,43% 
to 24% per annum (2023: 9,22% to 29,08% per annum), lease rentals are receivable in monthly I quarterly I half yearly Instalments, The 
assets are pledged in favor of the Company, 

2024 2023 
--Rupees In '000--

8,2 Particulars of advances (gross) 

In local currency 22,140,515 20,659 ,437 
In foreign currencies 

22,140,515 20,659,437 

8,2,1 Advances to Women, Women-owned and Managed Enterprises 

Women 
Women Owned and Managed Enterprises 413,756 233,599 

413,756 233,599 

8,2,2 Gross loans disbursed to women, women-owned and managed enterprises during the year RI. 293,73 million (2023: Rs.173,95 million) 

8,3 Particulars of credit loss allowance 

8,3,1 Advances· Exposure 

Gross eanying amount· opening 

New advances 

Adval'lCfl' derecognlsed or repaid 

Transfer to stage 1 

Transfer 10 stage 2 

Transfer 10 slage 3 

Amounts written off I chMged off 

Stag.' 

19,150,50-4 

11,959,089 

(11,313,562) 

29,200 

(7B5,n5) 

(19,385) 

819,567 

19,970,071 

202-4 II 
Stage: Stag. 3 Total Stage 1 

Rupee. In '000 

38-4,481 1,12-4,446 20,659,-431 23,-461,92& 

SO,950 1,301 18,011,346 1&,423,382 

(-40,341) (121,365) (16,530,268) (22,503,057) 

(29,200) . · 95,1-40 

765,ns . · (302,624) 

(50,872) 10,257 · (24,265) 

718,312 (54,&01) 1,481,078 (4,311 ,424) 

1,100,799 1,069,645 22,1-40,515 19,150,504 

"" Stage: Stag. 3 Total 

36-4,922 &&1 ,635 24,108,-485 

20,305 138,013 18,581 ,760 

(7-4,966) (34,687) (22,612,710) 

(95,140) . · 
302,624 . · 

(133,258) 157,523 · 
19,565 260.'" (4,030,950) 

(18,OS8) (18,OS8) 

1,124,446 20,659,431 
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8.3.2 Advances· Credit loss allowance 

8.3.3 

Opening balance 

Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9 

New Advances 

Advances derecogniaed Of repaid 

Transfef to stage 1 

Transfer to sllge 2 

Ttansler to Slage J 

Changes in risk parameters 
(PDsIlGOslEAO.) 

Closing balance 

Stag. 1 

51,17. 

38,851 
(31,913) ... 

(2,369) 

(231) 

(1,702) 

61,619 

Advancu • Credit loss allowance details 

,." 
Stag. 2 Stag. 3 

19,736 970,926 

I ,'" ." 
(1,148) (131 ,803) 

(185) . 
2,369 . 

(9,116) 9,353 

(6,740) (llt ,50l) 

6 ,727 68,391 

19,723 917,816 

Internal f Extemal rating I stage classification 

2024 
Stag. 1 Stlg.2 Stage 3 

Outltandlng gre .. exPOSUrl 
Performing . Stage 1 19,910,071 

Under Performing . Stage 2 1,100,799 

Non_performing. Stage 3 
Other Asset. . , ',900 
Substandard 32,121 

"""- a,ooa 

LM. 

Total 19,970,071 1,100,799 

CorrHponding EeL 

Stage 1 and stage 2 61 ,619 19,723 

Stage 3 917,816 

19,90a,452 1,081 ,076 151 ,129 

II 2023 

Total Stag. 1 Stag. 2 Stag. 3 Total 
Rupee. in '000 

1,049,536 500,622 500,622 

76,434 '.,aHI 223,2&4 313,736 

41,134 33,510 4,017 133,073 115,720 
(1&4,934) (30,865) (5,675) (9,783) (46,323) 

· 957 (957) . · 

· (936) ". . · 
· (270) (4,459) 4,729 · 

(123,8001 2.456 (6,078) Ill,QUI 129,397 

73,422 (20,Otll) 11 ,796 114,001 105,781 

999,158 58,874 19,736 970,92e 1,049,536 

II 2023 , ... , Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ''''' Rupee' In '000 

19,970,071 19,150,504 19,150,504 

1,100,799 364,487 364,487 

',900 6<KI 600 

32,121 29,967 29,967 

a,ooa 133,ne 133,nS 

81,342 58,874 19,738 78,610 

917,818 970,926 970,926 

21 ,141 ,357 19,091 ,630 364,751 153,520 HI,6OlI,$01 

8.3,3,1 Adllances include Rs. 1,069.645 million (2023: Rs, 1,124.446 million) which halle been placed under the non-performing statUI. 

I 
of classification In stage 3 

Oomestie 
Other Assets E.pecially Mentioned 
Substandard 

""""'" L~ 

'''''' 

NO. 

pe1:.r:~nll 

' ,900 
32,121 

8,008 

1,023,91 ' 

1,069,645 

Crwdltlo .. rf:: ln II CMltlo .. 
, lIowtlnc, PI II allow. ne. 

3,114 600 <0' 
20,861 29,967 19,995 
5,091 133.n8 98,321 

US,743 960,103 852,210 

917,a16 1,124,448 970,928 



I 
I 8.4 Particulars of Credit loss allowance against advances 

I 
Opening balance 
Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9 

Charge for the year 
Reversals 

Amounts written off 

Closing balance 

.-----o.w.-----,~----_..~----~ 

Note .••••••••••• - •• --•• - ••••• ------------- Rupees 

970,926 78,610 1,049,536 

70,365 2,746 73,111 

(123,475) (14) (123,489) 

(53,110) 2,732 (50,378) 

8 .6 

917,816 81,342 999,158 

500,622 

223,284 

292,776 
(27,658) 

265,118 

(18 ,098) 

970,926 

90,452 

5.71~)11 
(17,560) 

(11,842) 

500,622 

313,736 

298.49~)1 
(45,218) 

253,276 

(18,098) 

78,610 1,049,536 

I 8.5 Particulars of credit loss allowance against advances 

I 

I 
••• 
8.6.1 

I 
8 .• ,2 

9 

9,1 

I 

~~t~~I1~ 
In local currency 
In foreign currencies 

~c::J1 999,~58 11 78,~10 II 970'~26111 .049 ,~361 

81 ,342 917.816 999,158 78.610 970,926 1,049,536 

Forced Sale Value (FSV) benefit amounting to Rs. 292.44 million (2023: Rs. 371 .28 million) is available with the Company 
against certain mortgaged properties held as collaterat against non-performing advances_ However, the same has not been 
considered while computing credit loss allowance as at year end, as credit loss allowance has been computed under IFRS 
g • Financial lnlruments. 

Particulars of write offs: 

Against credit loss allowance 
Directly charged to profit and loss account 

Write offs of Rs. 500,000 and above 

• Domestic 
• Overseas 
Write ofts of Below Rs. 500,000 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment 
Capital work in progress 

Capital work.ln-progress 

Civil works 

~ 

2024 2023 
Note -- Rupees In '000 ---

9.2 
9.1 

CJc::J 
18,098 

Dc:J 
46,447 

.24 

47,071 

.24 

18,098 

53,320 

53,320 

misbah.asjad
Stamp



I 
9.2 Property and equIpment 

9.2.1 

~ 

At January 1, 2024 
Co,t 
Accumulated depreciation 

Net book value 

Year elKled December 31, 2024 
Opening net book value 
Additions 

Disposals 

Cosl 
Accumulated depreciation 

Depreciation charge 

Ctoslng nel book value 

At December 31.202" 
Co.t 
Accumulated depreciation 

Net book value 

Rate of depreciation (percenlage) 

At January 1. 2023 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book value 

Year ended December 31. 2023 
Opening net book value 
Additions 
Dl1posals 
Co.t 
Accumulated depreciation 

Depreciation charge 
ClOsing !'let book value 

At OKember 31, 2023 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book value 

Leasehold 
Improve· 

ments 

44,017 
143,4091 

6O. -
.0' 

1,561 

1,930 

45,560 

20% ••• 

Leasehold 
Improve· 
ments 

"6,942 

558 
512 

(3,"37) 
3,"37 

, .. 62! 
608 

44,017 
("3,409) 

50. 

Furniture 
and fixtures 

16,240 

115,2"71 

99' 

993 
,&< 

1,478 

16,598 

20% ... 

Furniture 
and fIXtures 

17,553 

.,. ... 
(2,217) 
2.217 

(349) 
993 

16,240 
(15,247) 

993 

Rate of depreciation (percentage) 20% 20% -
DetaUs of disposal made to related partJe. 

Particulars of assets I c .. t I Accumulated I r .............. 
depreciation value 

RupeH In '000 

2024 

laptop 151 151 

2023 

BMW 530W Car 19,350 17,250 2.090 

laplop 280 '56 12. 

Electrical 
and office 
equipment 

9,934 

11•666) 
3,261 

3,261 

'" 

2,687 

9,345 

20% . .. 
EIeclricaI and 

om", 
equipment 

16,380 

2,37" 
2,095 

(8,5041) 
8,529 

(12) 
(1,l89) 
3,268 

9,934 
(6,666) 

3.26' 

20% 

...... 
proceeds 

2.090 

'24 

2024 

Computer 
equipment 

RuPHS In '000 

35,158 

12515381 
10,120 

10,120 
5,342 

10,418 

40,310 
(21,842) 

10,418 

,,% • • • 

2023 

Computer 
equipment 

Rupees In '000 

28,935 

" ,020 
10,521 

(3,798) 
3,650 

(1 "8) 
(U73) 

35,658 
(25,538) 
10,120 

33% 

Veh lc~ 

41,111 

12,7851 
38,331 

38,331 
4,760 

29,934 

45,871 
(15.842) 

2S1,S134 

,,% • •• 

Vehicles 

42,244 

6,547 
35,036 

(36,154) 
33,933 
(2,231) 
!3.121) 
38,331 

41,116 
(2,785) 
38,331 

2'" 

Mode of disposal 

As per the terms 

of employment 

As per the terms of 
employment 

As per the terms of 
employmenl 

Mobile 
pho-

eo% _. 

Mobile ph,.., 

409 

("09) 
409 

SO% 

Total 

146,965 

193,&451 
53,320 

53,320 
13.176 

41,447 

157,739 
1111.292) 

41.447 

-

Total 

152,"63 

16,037 

"9,068 

( .. · ... )1 
52.175 • 
(2,391) 
!9,3941 
53.320 

146,965 

I Particular of purchaser 

Abdul Jaleel Shaikh 
(Ex Chief Risk Officer) 

Ayesha Am 
(Ex Managing Diredor) 

Ayesha AzIz 
(Ex Managing Oireclor) 



I 
I 9.2.2 The cost of fully depreciated fixed assets that are still in the Company's use Is as follows: 

I 
2024 2023 

Note - Rupees in '000 -

Leasehold improvements 43,167 43,167 
Furniture and fixtures 14,776 15,116 
Electrical, office and computer equipment 27,077 24,253 
Vehicles 176 70 

85,196 82,606 

I 2024 2023 
Buildings 

10 RIGHT -OF-USE ASSETS --Rupee, In '000--

I At January 01, 

Cost 156,771 154.306 
Accumulated Depreciation (114,037) 

I Net Carrying amount at January 01, 40,269 

Additions I reassessment during the year 66,546 2,465 
Deletions during the year 

Cost (68.650) 
Accumulated Depreciation 68,650 
Depreciation Charge for the year (29.1311 (25.871) 

Net Carrying amount at December 31 , S..278 16.863 

11 tNT ANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets 11 .1 7,893 12,521 
Capital work-in-progress 

I 7,893 12,521 

2024 2023 
Computer software 

11 .1 Intangible assets - Rupee. In '000 --

At January 1, 

Cost 33,725 22,412 

Accumulated amortisation (21,204) (19.145) 

Net book value 12,521 3,267 

Year ended December 31, 

I Opening net book value 12,521 3.267 

Additions 356 11,313 

Amortisation charge (4.984) (2,059) 

I Closing net book value 7,893 12.521 

At December 31, 

Cost 11.1 .1 34,081 33,725 

Accumutated amortisation (26.1881 (21.204) 

Net book value 7,893 12,521 

Rate of amortisation (percentage) 33.33% 33.33% 

Useful life (i~ years) 
, 

3 3 

11 .1.1 The cost of fully amortised intangible assets still in use am9unts to Rs. 19.05 million (2023: Rs. 18.99 mill ion). 
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12 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

Deductible temporary differences on: 

• Lease liability 
• Provision for Bonus 
• Provision for diminution in the value of investments 
• Provision against advances, other assets, elc. 
• Deficit on revaluation of investments 
• Unrealisl!Mi loss on debllnvestment (FVPL) 
• Payable against post retirement employee benefrts 
• Provision for off balance sheet obl~atlons 

Taxable temporary differences on: 

- Net investment in finance lease 
• Right-of-use assets 
• Accelerated lax depreciation 
- Unrealised loss I (gain) on equity investments 
- Amortisation of Premium on investments 

-lease receivable against sub lease 
- Post retirement employee benefits 

Deductible temporary differences on: 

- Leue ~ilbil ity 
_ Provision for Bonus 
_ Provision for diminution in the value of investments 
- Provision against advances, other assets, etc. 
• Deficit on revaluation of investments 
- Unrealised loss on debt Investment (FVPL) 
- Payable against post retirement employee benefits 
- Provision for off balance sheet obligations 

Taxable temporal)' differences on: 

• Net investment In finance lease 

• Right-of-use assets 
• Accelefaled tax depreciation 
• Unrealised loss f (gain) on equity investments 

- Amortisation of Premium on investments 

_ Lease receivable against sub lease 

• Post retirement employee benefrts 

At January 
' , 2023 

9,515 

19,470 
94,761 

165,205 
633,259 

· 
· 
· 

922,210 

(48,524) 
(13,289) 

2,602 

17. 
21,094 

· 

(269) 

(38,216) 

883.994 

2024 

Recognised In 

At January 
unconsolidated 

Recognised 
At 

statement of Decem", 1,2024 
profit and lou 

InOCI 
31,20204 

account 

Rupees In 000 

1,078 13,428 · 14,506 
37,831 (4,611) · 33,150 
99,652 (10,815) · 88,837 

417,753 (28,081) · 389,672 
684,223 · (875,433) (191,210) ..... (2,106) · 2,742 

172 1,052 · 1,224 
5,18& ... · 5,750 

1,250,743 (30,639) (875,433) 344,671 

(23,670) 54,220 · 30,550 
(6,577) (14,592) · (21,169) 
(6,544) 3,40B · (3,136) 

(72,502) · (9,976) (82,478) 
(9,271) (13,042) · (22,313) 

(170) 17. · . 
(2,388) · (316) (2,706) 

(121,122) 30,164 (10,294) (101,252) 

1,129,621 (475) (885727) 243419 , , 

2023 
Impact on 

Recognised In 
Retained Re .. tated 
Earnings balance at 

unconsolidated 
Recognised 

At 
.tatement of December ." January 1, 

proflt snd 10 •• 
InOCI 

31,2023 
Adoption 2023 
of IFRS 9 

account 

Rupees In 000 

· 9,515 (8,437) · 1,078 

· 19,470 18,361 · 37,831 

· 94,761 4 ,891 · 99,652 
118,81 1 284,016 133,737 · 417,753 

· 633,259 · 50,964 684,223 

· · 4,848 · 4,848 

· · 172 · 172 
3,194 3,194 1,992 · 5,186 

122,005 1,044,215 155,564 50,964 1,250,743 

· (48,524) 24,854 · (23,670) 

· (13,289) 6 ,712 · (6,577) 

· 2,602 (9,146) · (6,544) 

· 17. (170) (72,502) (72,502) 

· 21,094 (30,365) · (9,27 1) 

· · (170) · (170) 

· (269) · (2,119) (2,388) 

(38,216) (8,285) (74,62 1) (121 ,122) 

122,005 1,005,999 147,279 (23,657) 1,129,621 
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13 

13.1 

14 

14.1 

Note 
OTHER ASSETS 

Income I mark-up accrued in local currency 

Advances. deposits, advance rent and other prepaymenls 

Advance taxation (payments less provisions) 

Dividend receivable 
Advance against subscriplion of privately placed term finance certificates 

Receivable against sale of shares 
Receivable from related parties 13.1 

Lease receivable under IFRS-16 

Less: Credit loss allowance held against other assets 

Receivable from related parties 

Receivable from Awwal Corporate Restructuring Company Limited (subsidiary) 
Receivable from other Modarabas managed by Aw.Nal 

Modaraba Management limited (related parties) 
Receivable from Primus Leasing Company Limited (subsidiary) 
Receivable from Awwal Modaraba Management Limited (subsidiary) 

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE 

Land, building and machinery acquired from: 
Sufi Sleelindustries (Private) Limited 

Lion Steel Industries (Private) LImited 

Aw.Nal Modaraba Management Limited-Investment 

Advance against investment in right shares -related party 
Impairment loss 

Total assets classified as held-for-sale 

14.1 

14.2 

2024 2023 
---Rupees In 'ODD ---

5,180,291 5.493,259 
1049,436 10,168 

5,350,393 1,694,173 

1,353 
122,845 

27.261 
04,709 6,648 

437 

10,684,829 7,356,144 

10,664,829 7,358,144 

948 985 

770 
3,761 3,050 

1,843 

4,709 6.648 

168,904 168,904 

D 105,000 
40,000 

(21.625) 
123.375 

168,904 292.279 

These represent land, building and machinery which have been classified as 'non-current assets as held for sale' as at 
December 31, 2021. The Company acquired these assets by settling total outstanding principal and mark-up of Rs 135 
million and Rs. 34 million respectively. It is expected that the process of sale of these assets will be completed in the near 
future. 

14.2 The Board of Directors of the Company decided to proceed with divestment of Its total Interest In Awwal MQdaraba 
Management Limited (AMML). In light of this deC/sian. the Board of Directors of AMML In their meeting held on 
September 30, 2023 directed to disseminate this significant development to relevant authorities and stakeholders in a 
timely and transparent manner. 

The material infonnaUon was sent to the Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) and Securities and Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan (SECP) of Pakistan on October 02, 2023. 

On October 12, 2023, invitation for expression of Interest was published in the newspaper for complete acquisition of 
AMML Including management rights of the modaraba. 

On November 21,2023, the Company infonned the Registrar Modaraba. SECP about the receipt of indicative bids from 
various parties. The SECP vide letter dated November 28, 2023, advised to apply to the Registrar Modaraba for the 
transfer of shares of the Modaraba Company along with management rights of the modaraba to the proposed acquirer, 
who is fit and proper under the Modaraba Law. 

On May 09, 2024, the Company Informed SECP that it had entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) dated Apri l 
03, 2024 for divestment of 100% of its shareholding in AMML subject to the approval of the SECP and other necessary 
approvals. On September 19, 2024, _Registrar Modaraba, SECP granted approval regarding the lran:;fer of 100% 
shareholding of AMML from Pak Brunei Investment Company to buyer. The shares of AMML, along with the management 
rights of the Modaraba have been transferred to the buyer on November 26. 2024. after completion of applicable 
corporate fonnatities. 
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202. 2023 
Not. Rupen in '000 

14.3 Movement of assets clas.lfled as held for sale: 

Opening 292,279 355,799 
Additions 145,000 
Disposals 14.3 1123,375) 1186,895) 
Impairment 10$$ !21,625l 
Closing 168,904 292,279 

14.4 Gain f (loss) on disposal of assets classified as held-for-sale 

Disposal proceeds 123,375 283,521 
Less: 
Carrying amount of investment 123.375 186.8~51 
Other expenses' adjustments 15,865 

139,240 186,895 

115,865) 96,626 

15 BORROWINGS 

Secured 
Borrowings from Slate Bank of Pakistan under: 

- Long-Term Finance Facility (LTFF) scheme 15.2 2,274.222 3,163,088 

- Power Plants Using Renewable Energy (PPRE) scheme 15.3 135,894 167,025 

- Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF) 15.4 U6,902 743,556 

- Finance for Storage of Agriculture Produce (FSAP) scheme 15.5 288,355 188,230 

- Credit Guarantee (eGS) Scheme 15.6 210,852 152,265 

- Special Persons (SP) Scheme 15.7 2,790 2,690 

- Working Capital (WCF) Scheme 15.8 1,252,279 901,142 

- Balancing, Modernisation & Replacement (BMR) scheme 15.9 866,224 553,863 

5,677,518 5,871 ,859 

Repurchase agreement borrowings 15.10 18,542,005 110,1 42,757 

Borrowings from banks 15.11 106,438,333 32,496,667 

Total secured 130,657,856 148,511 ,283 

Unsecured 

Leiters of placement: 15.12 53,725,614 26,082,715 

184,383,470 174,593,998 

15.1 Particulars of borrowings with respect to currencies 

15.2 

15.3 

In local currency 184,383,470 174,593,998 

In foreign currencies 

184,383,470 174,593,998 

The Company has entered Into agreements for financing with the SBP for Long-Tenn Financing under e)lpOrt oriented 
projects to customers. According 10 the tenns of the respective agreements, the SBP has the right to receive the 
outstanding amount from the Company at the due date by directly debiting the current account maintained by the 
Company with the SBP. The rate of return ranges from 2% to 11 % per annum (2023: 2% to 11 % per annum). These are 
secured against demand promissory notes and are repayable within 7 years (2023: 8 years). 

• • 
These borrowings have been obtained from the SBP under a scheme for financing renewable energy power plants to 
promote renewable energy projects In the country. These carry mark.up at rates ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% per annum 
(2023: 2.00% 10 5.00% per annum) and are due 10 mature latest by June 30, 2029. As per the lenns of the agreement, 
the Company has granled the SBP a right 10 recover the outstanding amount from the Company at the respectiVe date of 
maturity of finances by directly debiting the current account of the Company maintained with the SBP. 
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15.4 

15.5 

15.6 

15.7 

15.8 

15.9 

15.10 

15.11 

These represent borrowings from the SSP under scheme for temporary economic refinance facility. The mark-up rate 
applicable on these facilities is 1 % to 2% per annum (2023: 1 % to 2% per annum) payable on quarterty basis, with 
maturities uplO May, 2032 (2023: May 2032). As per the terms of the agreement, the Company has granted the SSP a 
right 10 recover the outstanding amount from the Company at the respective date of maturity of finances by directty 
debiting the current account of the Company maintained with the SSP. 

These borrowings have been obtained from the SSP under a scheme for financing the storage of agricultural produce to 
encourage the private sector to establish silos, warehouses and cold storages. These cany mark-up at rate of 2% to 4% 
per annum (2023: 2% to 4% per annum) and are due to be malured by February 28, 2030 (2023: June 02, 2029) 

These represent borrowings from the S8P under scheme for refinance and credit guarantee schemes. The mark·up rate 
applicable on these facilities is 0% to 2% per annum (2023: 0% per annum) payable on quarterly basis, with maturities 
upto November, 2029 (2023: November, 2028). As per the terms of the agreement, the Company has granted the S8P a 
right to recover the outstanding amount from the Company at the respective date of maturity of finances by directly 
debiting the current account of the Company maintained with the 5BP. 

These represent financing facilities to special persons to meet credit needs for setting up of new business enterprises Of 

for expansion of existing ones and claim refinance from State Bank of Pakistan up to 100% of finance extended by them. 
The spread is capped at 5% per annum (2023: 5% per annum) by S8P whereas S8P's refinance rate for this facility Is 
0% per annum (2023: 0% per annum) with maturities upto September 2029 (2023: September 2021). In case of default of 
the counterparty, upto 60% of principal is covered by S8P. As per the terms of the agreement, the Company has granted 
the S8P a right to recover the outstanding amount from the Company at the respective date of maturity of finances by 
directly debiting the current account of the Company maintained with the S8P. 

These represent borrowings from the S8P under scheme for wonting capital facilities. The mark-up rate applicable on 
these facilities is 2% per annum (2023: 2% per annum) payable on quarterly baSiS, with maturities upto May 2028 (2023: 
May 2028). As per the terms of the agreement, the Company has granted the S8P a right 'to recover the outstanding 
amount from the Company at the respective date of maturity of finances by directty debiting Ihe current account of the 
Company maintained with the S8P. 

These represent borrowings from the S8P under scheme for balancing. modernisation & replacement scheme. The mark· 
up rate applicable on these facilities is 2% per annum (2023: 1% to 2% per annum) payable on quarterly basis. with 
maturities upto September 2030 (2023: June 2029). As per the terms of the agreement. the Company has granted the 
S8P a right to recover the outstanding amount from the Company at the respective date of maturity of finances by directly 
debiting the current account of the Company maintained with the SBP. 

These represent borrowings from various financial institutions at mark-up rates ranging from 13.06% to 13.50% per 
annum (2023: 22.07% to 22.11% per annum). Pakistan Investment 80nds having a face value of Rs. 18,704 million 
(2023: 111 ,600 million) have been given as collateral against these borrowings respectively. 

These borrowings cany mark·up at rates ranging from 11.00% to 19.06% per annum (2023: 21.49% to 23.26% per 
annum) and are repayable within 3 years (2023: 4 years). These are secured against hypothecation of receivables , PIBs 
having a face value of Rs , 101.26 billion (2023: Rs. 21 .39 billion) and floating charge over term finance certificates having 
a face value of Rs. 569.86 million (2023: 699.78 million). 

15.12 Particulars of borrowings 

" 

letters of placement: 
• Others 

Letters of placement 
- Others 

2024 

Minimum (%0) II Maximum (fl.) II Tenor 

11.00 15.00 3 months 

2023 

Minimum (%) II Maximum (%) II Tenor 

20.70 22.35 5 months 
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16 DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS 

Note 

Customers 
• Certificate of investments 

(COls) 16.1 

Finanelallnstltutlons 
- Certificate of Investments 

(COls) 

16.2 

In local 
cUl'T1!ncy 

1,165,705 

1,165,705 

2024 2023 

In foreign 
Total In local In foreign 

Total currencies currency currencies 

Rupees In '000 

1,165,705 

1,165,705 

16.1 These Certificate of Investments (COls) carry mark-up rate of 14.50% to 21 .50% per annum (2023: Nil) with maturities upto 
June 2025 (2023: Nil) 

16.2 Composition of deposits 

17 

- Public sector entities 
- Private sector 

LEASE LIABIUTIES 

Outstanding amount at the start of the year 
Addition I Reassessment of lease 
Interest expense 
Payments of lease rental 

Closing balances 

Contractual maturity of lease liabilities 
Short-term lease liabilities - within one year 
long-term lease liabilities 
- 1 to 5 years 
- 5 to 10 years 
- More than 10 years 

Total lease liabilities 

18 OTHER LIABILITIES 

Mark-up I return I interest payable in local currency 
Unearned commission and income on bills discounted 
Accrued expenses 
Brokerage I commission payable 
Payable to defined benefit plan - related party 
Security deposits against advances 
Provision for Worker's Welfare Fund 
Provision for off balance sheet obligations 
Others 

2024 2023 
Note - Rupees In '000--

35 

18.1 

500,000 
665,705 

1,165,705 

2,765 
66,546 

2,751 
(34,8681 

37,194 

28,834 
2,465 
3,848 

(32.382) 

2.765 

35,906 1,451 

c:JD 
__ ...:1",2::88=- 1.314 

37,194 2,765 

3,012,740 1,925,144 
28,432 32.359 

111 ,102 126,275 
6,933 2,695 
3,139 443 

298,606 288,177 
198,692 173,680 

14,744 13,298 
80,821 72,41 9 

3,755,209 2.634.490 



I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

2024 2023 
18.1 Credit loss allowance against off-balance sheet obligations Note --Rupees in '000 - -

Opening balance 13,298 9,679 

Exchange adjustment 

Charge for the year 
Reversals 

1,446 3,619 
Amount written off 

Closing balance 14,744 13,298 

19 SHARE CAPITAL 

19.1 Authorised capital 

2024 2023 2024 2023 
-- Number of shares --- - Rupees In '000 -

600,000,000 600,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 

19.2 Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital 

2024 2023 2024 2023 
- Number of shares - Ordinary shares --Rupees In '000 --

600,000,000 600,000,000 19.2.1 6,000,000 6,000,000 

19.2.1 As at December 31,2024, the Ministry of Finance and Secretary Economic Affairs Division, Government of Pakistan, holds 
299,995,999 and 4,001 shares (2023: 299.995.999 and 4,001 shares) respectively on behalf of the Government of Pakistan 
and remaining 300,000,000 shares (2023: 300,000,000 shares) are held by the Brunei Investment Agency. 

20 SURPLUS I (DEFICIT) ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS 

20.1 

Surplus I (Deficit) on revaluation of 
• Securities measured at FVOCI·Debt 
• Securities measured at FVOCI·Equily 

Deferred tax on surplus I (deficit) on revaluation of: 
• Securities measured at FVOCI·Debt 
• Securities measured at FVOCI·Equity 

Movement In revaluation of assets 

Deficit on revaluation as at January 01 
Revaluation deficit recognised during the year 

Deficit on revaluation as at December 31 

Less: related deferred tax asset on 
· Revaluation as at January 01 
• Revaluation recognised during the year 

2024 2023 
Note --Rupees in '000 -

7.1 490,282 (1 ,754,419) 
366,571 322,231 
856,853 (1,432,166) 

(1 91,210) 684,223 
!82,478) (72,502) 

563,165 (820,467) 

(1 ,432,188) (2,134,851) 
2,289,041 702,663 

856,853 (1,432,188) 

633,259 
(21 ,538) 

I 

I~ 
Deficit on revaluation of assets - net of lax ,. 

61 1,721 

583,165 (820,467) 

, 
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21 

21.1 

21.2 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

• Guarantees 
• Commitments 
- Other contingent liabilities 

Guarantees 

Financial guarantees 

CommItments 

Documentary credits and shorNerm trade-related transactions 
- letters of credit 

Commitments in respect of: 
- forward tendings 
- Mure purchase and sale transactions 
- repa transactions 

21.2.1 Commitments in respect of forward lendings 

Undrawn formal standby faellities, credit lines 
and other commitments to lend 

Note 

21.1 
21 .2 
21.3 

21.2.1 
21 .2.2 
21 .2.3 

2024 2023 
--Rupees In '000 -

200,000 
24.878,925 122.973,308 

24,878,925 123,173,308 

200,000 

1,327,589 1,176,350 

4,850,815 3,884,675 

4,956,324 
18,700,521 11 2,955,959 

24,878,925 122,973,308 

4,850.815 3,884,675 

These represent commitments that are irrevocable because they cannot be withdrawn at the discretion of the Company 
without the risk of incurring significant penalty or expense. 

21.2.2 Commitments In respect of future transactions 

Purchase 
Sale 

2024 2023 
- Rupee. In '000 - -

4,956,324 

4,956,324 

I 21.2.3 Commitments In respect of repo transactions 

Repurchase of government securities 18,700,521 112,955,959 

I 

I 

Reverse repurchase of government securities 

18,700,521 112,955,959 

21.3 Other contingent liabilities 

21.3.1 In 2009, Burj Bank Limited (former1y Oawood Islamic Bank Limited) filed a legal suit amounting to Rs. 200 million for 
damages against the Company for alleged non-performance of underwriting commitment In respect of issue of shares at a 
premium. The legal advisors of the Company are of the opinion that the Company has a strong case and that the mailer will 
most likely be decided in favor of the Company. 

21.3.2 The returns of income of the Company from tax years 2008 to 2024 had been filed with the tax authorities. From tax year 
2008 up to tax year 2020, these returns have been revised and additional tax demands have been raised of which Rs. 
782.07 million are outstanding as at December 31, 2024. The mailers which have been raised in these demands mainly 
included allocation of common expenses to dividend income, taxation of discount income, additions on account of 
concessional loans to employees and deletion of the charge pertaining to the Workers' Welfare Fund. The Company is 
contesting these demands and appeals have been filed by the Company against the same which are pending adjudication 
at ll;srious legal and appellate forums. The Company has made partial payments against some of these demands which are 
being shown as refundable from tax authorities. The management is confident that the mailers will eventually be decided in 
favor of the Company and that the Company will be able to adjust amounts in respect of mailers decided against the 
Company (If any) against the tax refunds currently being claimed by it. 
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I Note 2024 2023 

- Rupees In '000-
22 MARK-UP I RETURN f INTEREST EARNED 

I On: 
a) Loans and advances 2,971,345 2,981,570 

I b) Investments 33,555,266 18,349,735 
c) l endings to financial institutions 1,296.351 793,312 

I 
d) SUb-lease of premises ,. 563 
e) Balances with banks 27,506 24,910 

37,850,478 22,150,090 

I 
22.1 Interest income (calculated using effective Interest rate method) recognised on: 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost; 4,295,212 3.800.355 
Financial assets measured at FVPL 194,723 3.464,500 

I Financial assets measured at FVOCI 33.36°1543 14,885,235 

37,850,478 22.150.090 

23 MARK-UP I RETURN I INTEREST EXPENSED 

I 
Oeposits 76,659 6,685 
Interest expense on lease liability against right-af-use assets 2,751 3,848 
Borrowings 36,684,256 20.769.365 

I 
36,763,666 20,779.898 

24 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 

Trustee fee 55,310 62,271 
Fee on Credit facilites 37,250 22,652 

Participation fee 11,670 3.900 

I Commitment fee 3,04.9 

Commission on guarantees 7,580 3,906 
Advisory and arrangement fee 15,938 19.613 

I 127,748 115.591 

25 GAIN ON SECURITIES 

Realised gain 25.1 63,674 135.670 
Unreallsed - Measured at FVPL 5,400 (12,432) 

69,074 123,236 

25.1 Realised gain I (loss) on: 

Federal government securities (154,134) 46,709 

Shares 227,.98 88,629 

Non-government debt securities 310 332 

63,674 135,670 

2S OTHER INCOME 

I Gain I (loss) on sale of assets classified as held-for-sale 14.4 (",8S5) 96,626 

Gain on sale of fixed assets - net 387 1,906 

Others 

(15,'78) 98.532 

• • 

I~ • 
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I 
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I 27.1 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

Total compensation expenses 

Property expense 
Rent and taxes 
Insurance 
Utilities cosl 

Security (including guards) 
Repairs and maintenance (including Janitorial charges) 
Depreciation 

Information technology expenses 
Software maintenance 
Hardware maintenance 
Depreciation 
Amortisation 

Other operating expenses 
Directors' fees and allowances 
Fees and subscription 
Legal and professional charges 
Travelling and conveyance 
Brokerage commission 
Depreciation 
Training and development 
Postage and courier charges 
Communication 

Stationery and printing 
Marketing, advertisement and publicity 
Donations 
Auditors' remuneration 
Expenses incurred in relation to assets held for sale 
Service charges for lease rental recoveries 
Others 

Total compensation expenses 

Fixed 

Contractual Staff 
In-house 

Salaried outsourced staff 

Other benefits 
Cash bonus I awards 
Charge for defined benefit plan 
Contribution to defined contribution plan 
Medical 
Vehicle allowance 
Leave fare assistance 
Leave encashment 
Others 

Re.Jmbursement of salaries· subsidiaries , 
Total compensation expense 

The Company does not have any material outsourcing arrangements. 

Note 

27.1 

10 

9.2 
11 .1 

9.2 

27.3 
27.4 

2024 2023 
- Rupees In '000_ 

310,523 318,542 

730 
9,732 6,958 
8,896 7,689 
3,323 3,389 

10,679 12,682 

29,131 25,871 
62,491 56,569 

7,540 550 
1,132 9B9 
4,982 4,273 
4,984 2,059 

18,638 7,871 

6,000 7,200 
8,087 4,286 

28,043 28,151 
51,257 48,175 
53,096 27,753 
14,936 5,122 

2,134 2,495 
475 363 

5,872 3,B09 
1,800 2,277 

772 193 
1,000 2,000 
3,639 3,412 
9,190 42,954 
2,911 5,852 
6.401 14,164 

195,613 198,206 

5871265 581,208 

172,190 130,340 

24,805 33,367 
15,997 11,336 
40,802 44,703 

68,439 110,404 
8,965 9,136 

10,768 8,574 
9,937 6,840 

26,598 26,216 
2,9504 7,329 

3,312 
569 604 

128,230 172,415 

0 
(30,699) (2B,916) 

310,523 318,542 
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27.3 Details of donations 

Donations individually not exceeding Rs 500,000 

Dawal-e-Hadiyah 
JOC Foundation Pakistan 
Friends of Burns Centre 

Sindh Integrated Emergency and Health Services 

27.4 Auditors' remuneration 

Audit fee for annual financial statements 
Half yearly review fee 
Special certifications and sundry advisory services 
Tax services 

Out-ot-pocket expenses 

28 WORKERS' WELFARE FUND 

Provision for Workers' Welfare Fund 

Note 

28.1 

2024 2023 
- Rupees In '000-

200 
500 
300 

2.000 

1,000 2,000 

1,783 1,700 
518 450 
430 1,050 
500 132 
408 80 

3,639 3,412 

25.012 24,685 

I 28.1 As a consequence of the 18th amendment to the Constitution of Pakistan, the Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund Act, 2014 
(SWNF Act) had been passed by the Government of Sindh in May 2015 as a result of which every industrial establishment 
located in the Province of Sindh, the total income of which in any accounting year is not less than Rs. 0.50 million, is 
required to pay Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund (SWNF) in respect of that year a sum equal to two percent of such Income. 
The matter relating to payment of SWNF is pending before the Sindh High Court and an interim stay Older has been 
granted to the Company. However, as a matter of prudence, the management has maintained a provision for SWWF in the 
unconsolidated financial statements amounting to Rs 198.692 million which includes a provision of Rs. 25.012 million for 
Ihe current year. Subsequently to year end the Sindh High Court decision dated January 25, 2025 reiterates that the matter 
to be disposed of as per the Council of Common Interests' decision on Agenda Item 14 bearing no CCI 14/112019 dated 
23.12.2019 which states this being trans-provincial and interprovincial matter should remain with the Federal govemment. 

I 29 

I 
I 

30 

I ~ 

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE AND WRITE OFFS - NET 

Credit loss allowance against balances with other banks 
Credit loss allowance against lending to financial institutions 

Reversal of credilioss allowance against investments 

Reversal of credilloss allowance against loans & advances 

Credit loss allowance against off balance sheet obligations 

Impairment on asset held for Sale 

Recovery of advances written off 

Levies 

Final tax 
Minimum lax 

Note 

6 

7.1 
8.4 

2024 2023 

- Rupees In '000 -

(1) 2 

(27,729) (12,801) 

(50.378) 253,276 
1,446 3.619 

21,625 

(28.073) 

(76.662) 237,648 

2024 2023 
---Rupees In '000 --

62,071 42,740 
278.323 
321,063 
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This represents minimum tax differential under section 113 and final tax on dividend income and capital gains under section 
5 and 37A respectively of the Income Tax Ordinance. 2001 . These has been recognised as levies in these unconsolidated 
financial statements as per the requirements of IFRIC 21 l iAS 37 and guide on lAS 12 issued by ICAP. 

2024 2023 
Note - Rupees In '000 --

TAXATION 

Current 77,872 126,016 
Prior years 62 ,429 

Deferred 12 475 (1 47,278) 

78,347 41.167 

31 .2 The relationship between tax expense and accounting profit has nol been presented in these financial statements as the 
tax liability of the Company comprises of minimum tax at the rate of 1.25% on tumover of the Company in accordance with 
Section 11 3 of Income Tax Ordinance 2001 . 

Note 2024 2023 
--Rupee. In '000 -

32 BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Profit for the year 610,495 847,354 

-Number of s hares In '000-

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 600.000 600,000 

---Rupe •• ---

Basic earnings per share 1.02 1.41 

32.1 Diluted earnings per share 

33 

Diluted eamings per share has not been presented separately as the Company does not have any convertible instruments 
in issue. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and balance with treasury banks 
Balance wi th other banks 

Credilloss allowance held against balances wilh olher banks 

Note 

5 
6 

2024 2023 
- Rupees In '000 -

796,300 688,559 
107,838 239,927 

1 2 
904,139 928,488 

2024 2023 
34 STAFF STRENGTH Number 

34.1 

Pennanent 
On Company's contract 

Oulsourced 34.1 

81 
9 

28 

118 

69 
18 
21 

108 

This includes 28 (2023: 21) employees of outsourcing services companies who were assigned to perfoon guarding and 
Janitorial services . 

I 
. ~ 
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35 DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 

35.1 General description 

As mentioned in nole 4.13, the Company operates a funded gratuity scheme for all its permanent employees. The benefits 
under the gratuity scheme are payable on retirement at the age of 60 Of earlier cessation of service. In lump sum. The 
benefit is equal 10 one month's last drawn basic salary for each year of eligible service with the Company subject to a 
minimum qualifying period of service of five years . The plan assets and defined benefit obligations are based In Pakistan. 

35.2 Number of employees under the defined benefit plan 

The number of employees covered under the 
defined benefit plan as al December 31 , 

35.3 Principal actuarial assumption. 

2024 2023 
- - - Number - --

89 79 

The actuarial valuations were carried out as al December 31 , 2024 using the following significant assumptions: 

Discount rate 

Expected rate of salary increase 

Morality rate 

Retirement assumption 

35.4 Reconclllat1on of payable from defined benefit plan 

Present value of obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

Payable 

35.S Movement In defined benefit plan 

At the beginning of the year 
Current service cost 
Contributions by the Company· net 
Benefits paid by the Company 
Re--measurement (gain) 110ss 

At the end of the year 

Note 

35.6 
35.7 

35.8 .1 

35.8.2 

2024 2023 
--- Per annum -

12.25";' 15.50% 

15.50"/0 15.50% 

SLiC 2001 • SliC 2001· 
2005 2005 

Setback 1 Setback 1 
Year Year 

Age 60 Age 60 

2024 2023 
--Rupees in '000 -

65,033 SO,958 
(61,894! (SO,525) 

3,139 443 

443 (3,260) 
8,965 9,136 

(5,453) 

(816! (5,433) 

3,139 443 
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35.6 Movement In payable under defined benefit plan 

Opening balance 
Current seNice cost 
Past service cost 
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 
Re-measurement (gain) I loss recognised in OCI during the year 
Benefits paid by the Company to outgoing members 

Closing balance 

Note 

35.8.1 

35.8.2 

2024 2023 
- Rupee. In '000 --

50,968 66,1 98 
9,417 7,954 

1,655 
7,379 7,542 
2,722 (4,022) 

(M53) (28.359) 

65,033 50.968 

35.7 Movement In fair value of plan assets 

Fair vatue at the beginning of the year 
Interest income 00 plan assets 
Contribution by the Company· net 

Actual benefits paid from the fund during the year 
Re-measurement gain I (loss) 

Fair value at the end afthe year 

35.8 Charge for defined benefit plan 

35.8.1 Cost recognised In unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account 

CUrrent service cost 
Past service cost 

Net interest Income on pian 

35.8.2 Re-measurements recognised in OCI during the year 

loss I (gain) on obligation 
• financial assumptions 
• experience adjustmenls 

Retum on plan assets over interesl income 

Total re-measurements recognised In OCI 

35.9 Component. of plan assets 

Bonds 
Cash and cash equivalents - net 

Government securities 

35.9.1 Description of risks 

The defined benefit plan exposes the Company to the following risks: 

35.8.2 

50,525 
7,831 
5,453 

(5,453) 
3,538 

61,894 

9,417 

1452) 

69.458 
8.015 

(28.359) 
1,411 

50.525 

7 ,954 
1,655 
(473) 

8,965 9,136 

(326) 
3,_ 

2,722 

(3,538) 

(816) 

52,888 
9,006 

61,894 

5,758 
(9,780) 

(4,022) 

(1,'11) 

(5,433) 

4,911 
45,614 

50,525 

Withdrawal risks· This is the risk of higher or lower withdrawal experience than assumed. The final effect could go either 
way depending on the beneftclaries' service I age distribution and the benefit. 

Mortality risk. - This Is the risk that the actual mortality experience Is different. Similar to the withdrawal risk, the effect 
depends on the beneficiaries' service I age distribution and the benefit. 

Investment risks· This is the risk of the investment underperformance and being not sufficient to meet the liabilities. 

Final salary risks · This is the risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what was 
assumed. 
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35.10 Sensitivity analysis 

A sensitivity analysis for each significant financial assumption as of the reporting date, showing how the defined benefit 
obligation would have been affected by changes in the relevant actuarial assumption that were reasonably possible at that 
date, is as follows: 

Increase I decrease in obligation 

1% increase in discount rate 

1 % decrease In discount rate 

1 % increase in expected rate of salary increase 

1% decrease in expected rate of salary increase 

2024 2023 
- Rupees In '000-

59,124 3,687 

89,038 (4,184) 

69,094 (4,179) 

58,989 3,749 

The above sensitivities analyses are based on a change In an assumption 'NhUe holding all other assumptions constant. 
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to sIgnificant actuarial assumptions, the same method 
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting 
period) has been applied as when calculating the gratuity liability recognised within Ihe unconsolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Rupees In '000 

35.11 Expected contributions to be paid to the fund In the next financlsl year 11 ,-490 

The expected charge for the next financial year commencing January 1, 2025 wof1(s out to Rs. 11.419 million (2023: Rs. 
9.486 million). 

35.12 Maturity prOfile 

The weighted average duration of the obligation is 8 years (2023: 8 years). 

35.13 Funding policy 

An implicit, though not a formally expressed objective, is that the liabilities under the scheme in respect of membe~ in 
service on the valuation date on a going concern basis and having regard to prOjected future salary increases, should be 
covered by the Fund on the valuation date, the total book reserve as of the valuation date, future contributions to the Fund, 
future additions to the book reserve and future projected investment Income of the Fund. 

Accordingly the contribution to the Fund should remain reasonably stable as a percentage of salaries, under the Actuarial 
Cost Method employed. 

36 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

" 

The Company operates a provident fund scheme for all its pennanent employees. Equal monthly contributions at the rate of 
10% per annum (2023: 10% per annum) of basic salaries are made both by the Company and employees. Contributions 
made to the provident fund during the year are as follows: 

Contribution made by the Company 

Contribution made by employees 

" 

2024 2023 
--- Rupees in '000 --

10,768 
10,768 

21 ,536 

8,574 
8,574 

17,148 

" 
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37 COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

37.1 Total Compensation Expense 

2024 
Directors 

Executives President I 
Items Non · 

Chairman (other than 
Executive 

CEO 
CEO) 

(Rupees In '000) 

Fees and Allowances etc. 2,000 4,000 
Managerial Remuneration 
I) Fixed 29,140 
ii) Total Variable 
of which 

a) Cash Bonus I Awards 11 ,038 
b) Bonus & Awards in Shares 

Charge for defined benefit plan 1,754 
Contribution to defined contribution plan 2,010 
Rent & house maintenance 
Utilities 
Medical 1,159 
Conveyance 
Others 
- LFA 2.313 
• ToA 502 
- Fuel 1,357 
• leave encashment 
• Mobile reimbursement 104 
• Security & Vehicle Maintenance 1,095 
• others 147 

Total 2,000 4,000 50,619 

Number of persons 1 2 1 

2023 
Oirectors 

Items Executives 
Non · 

Pres ident' 
Chairman (other than CEO 

CEOI 
ExecuUve 

(Rupees In '000) 

Fees and Allowances etc. 2,400 4,800 
Managerial Remuneration 
I) Fixed 25,216 
ij) Total Variable 
of which 

a) Cash Bonus ' Awards 18,502 
b) Bonus & Awards in Shares 

Charge for defined benefit plan 2,187 
Contribution to defined contribution plan 1.739 
Rent & house maintenance 
Utilities 
Medical 25 
Conveyance 
Others 
• LFA 1,998 
· TDA 426 
• Fuel 890 
• Leave encashment 3 ,312 
• Mobile reimbursement 22 
· Security & Vehicle Maintenance 738 
• others 3,929 

Total 2,400 4 ,800 58,983 

Number of persons 2 2 2 

~ 

Other Key 
Material 

Management 
Personnel 

Risk Takers 
I Contro lle rs 

66,925 106,573 

26,518 34,81 5 

2,748 5,715 
3,123 6.396 

3,407 5,198 

2,616 6,389 
979 1,445 

8,992 13,137 

294 530 

753 915 

116,355 181 ,113 

15 18 

Key 
Other 

Management 
Material 

Risk Takers' Personnel 
Controllers 

62,698 85,094 

15,866 26,150 

836 1,861 
2,401 3,634 

1,604 2.847 

2,942 4,243 
600 621 

6,736 11 ,598 

239 419 

493 1,141 

94.415 137,608 

14 22 
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37.2 Remuneration paid to e lreetol'll for participation in Board and Committee Meetings 

Sr. 
Name of Director 

No. 

1 Ms. Ok Noorul HayaU Julaihi 
2 Mr. Nasir Mahmood Khosa 
3 Ms. Norakertenl Muhammad 

Total Amount Pa id 

Sr. 
Name of Director 

No. 

1 Ms. Ok Noorul Hayati Julaihi 
2 Mr. Nasir Mahmood Khesa 
3 Ms. Norakerteni Muhammad 

Total Amount Paid 

38 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

2024 
Meetln 

For 
Board Audit 

Meetings Committee 

2,000 
2,000 
2,000 

6000 • 

2023 

. 

F ... and Allowances Paid 
For Board Committees 

Cred,tand 
HR&RC Risk 

Committee Management 
Committee 

Rupee. In '000' 

. . 

Meeting Fe •• and Allowances Paid 

For 
Board 

Meetings 

2,400 
2,400 
2,400 
7.200 

Audit 
Committee 

For Board Committees 
Cred" and 

HR&RC Risk 
Committe. M:anagement 

Committee 
Rupees in '000' 

Total Amount 
Paid 

2.000 
2,000 
2,000 

6 000 • 

Total Amount 
Paid 

2,400 
2,400 
2.400 
7.200 

The fair value of quoted securities other than those classified as held to maturity, is based on quoted market price. Quoted 
securities classified as held to maturity are carried at cost. The fair value of unquoted equity securities, other than 
investments in associates and subsidiaries, is detennined on the basis of the break-up value of these investments as per 
their latest available audited financial statements. 

The fair value of unquoted debt securities, fixed tenn loans, other assets, other liabilities, fixed tenn deposits and 
borrowings cannot be calculated with sufficient reliability due to the absence of a current and active mancet for these assets 
and liabilities and reliable data regarding martet rates for similar instruments. 

38.1 Fair value of financial assets 

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy Ihat re flects the significance of the inputs used 
in making the measurements: 

Level 1 : Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) In active martets for Identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

l evel 3: Fair value measurements using Input for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. 
unobservable inputs). 

Valuation technIque. and Input. used In determination of fair values 

Item Valuation techniques and Input used 
Fully paid-up ordinary Fair values of investments in listed equity securities are valued on the basis of closing quoted 
shares martet prices available at the stock exchange. 

Pakistan Investment Fair values of Pakistan Investment Bonds and Treasury Bills are derived using the PKRV I PKFRV 
Bonds I Martet rales (FMA report). 
Treasury Bills 

Term finance I su~ks Investments in listed debt securities (comprising term financepertificales, bonds, sukuk certificates 
certificates and any other security issued by a company or a body corporate for the purpose of raising funds in 

the form of redeemable capital) are valued on the basis of the prices announced by the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange Umited. 
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The table below analyses financial Instruments measured at the end of the reporting period by the level in the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised: 

I 2024 
On balance sheet financial instruments Level 1 II Level 2 I Level 3 II Total 

RupeH In '000 
Financial assets· measured at fair value 
investments 

Federal govemment securities 162,620.0465 162,620,465 
Ordinary shares 1,346 ,043 1,346,043 
Non-govemment debt securities 2,764,847 2,764,847 

Off-balance sheet financial Instrument. 
Commitments 
• M ure purchase and sale transactions 

2023 
On balance sheet financial instruments level 1 II Level 2 I levell II Total 

Rupee. In '000 
Financial asseta • measured at fair value 
Investments 

Federal govemment securities 153,327,875 153,327,875 
Ordinary shares 961,316 961 ,316 
Non-govemment debt securities 2,473,503 2,473,503 

Off-balance .heet financial instruments 
Commitments 
- Mure purchase and sale transactions 4,956,324 4,956,324 

39 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

39,1 Segment detail. with respect to bu.lnes. activities 

Total 

Uncon.olidated statement of profit and loIS account 
Net Mar1t-up I return I profit 1,003,699 83,113 1,086,812 
Non mar1t-up I return I Interest income 127,748 546,696 6704,444 

Total income 127,748 1,550,395 83,113 1,761,256 

Total expenses 44,277 539,193 28,807 612,277 

I Credit loss allowance 15,856! 82,518 76,662 

Profit before levies and taxation 83,471 1,005,346 136,82. 1,225,M1 

Unconsolidated Statement of Financial Po.IUon 
Cash and bank balances 65,579 795,893 42,666 904,138 
Investments 168,748,062 168,748,062 
l endings to financial institutions 
Advances· performing 1,186,589 19,802,939 20,989,528 
• non-performing 28,451 123,378 151,829 
Others 7,924 10,632,638 565,832 11 ,206,394 

Total asset. 73,503 181,391,633 20,534,815 201 ,999,951 

Borrowings 168,062,119 16,321 ,351 184,383,470 
Oeposits & other accounts 1,165,705 1,165,705 
lease liabilities 35,302 1,892 37.194 
Others 3,563,177 192,032 3,755,209 

Total liabilities 171 ,660,598 11,680,980 189,341,578 

Equity 73,503 9,731 ,035 2,853,835 12,658,373 , 
Total equity and lIabllltie. 73,503 181,391,633 20,534,815 201,999,951 

, 

Contingencies and commitments 23,551 ,336 1,327,589 24,878,925 

~ 
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Total 

Unconsolidated statement of profit and loIS account 
Net mark-up I retum I profit 1,194,928 175,264 1,370 ,192 
Non mark-up I retum I interest income 567,3<3 682,933 
Total income 1,762,271 175,264 2,053,125 
Total expenses 34,111 520,060 51,722 605,893 
Credit loss allowance 37,666 199,982 237,648 
Profit before levies and taxation 81 1479 1.204.545 (76,440) 1,209,58-4 

Unconsolidated Statement of Financial Position 
Cash and bank balances 52,273 796,953 79,260 928,486 
Investments 158,671.066 158,671,066 
lendings to financial institutions 
Advances - performing 1,254,440 18,201 ,941 19,456,381 
Advances - non-performing 12,129 141 ,391 153,520 
Others 4,656 8 ,054,978 801 ,114 8,860.748 
Total assets 56.929 168,789,566 19,223,706 188,070,201 

Borrowings 158,794,054 15,799,944 174,593,998 
Deposits and other accounts 
lease liabilities 2,515 250 2,765 
Others 2,396,183 238,307 2,634,490 
Total liabilities 161 ,192,752 16,038,501 177,231,253 
Equity 56,929 7,596,81 4 3,185,205 10,838,948 
Total equity and liabilities 56,929 168.789,566 19,223,706 188,070,201 

Contingencies and commitments 116,840,63< 6,332,67' 123,173,308 

39.2 Segment details wi th respect to geographical location 

The operations of the Company are currently based only in Pakistan, 

40 TRUST ACTIVITIES 

The Company is acting as Debt Securities Trustee and Investment Agent to Issues of Tenn Finance Certificates (TFCs), 
Sukuk and Commercial Papers {"Debt Securitiesj and is holding Secured Properties in a fiduciary capacity for and on 
behalf of Investors, The Company is authorised 10 provide said services under Public Offering (Regulaled Securities 
Activities licensing) Regulations, 2017 (the "Regulalionsj of the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). 

Presently, the Company Is acting as Trustee and Investment Agent to 50 (fifty) debt securities issues by institutions namely 
Agha Steel Industries limited, Agritech limited, Azgard Nine limited, Bank A/falah limited, Bank AI-Habib limited, Bank 
Islami Pakistan limited, Crescent Steel & Allied Product limited, Dubal lslaml Bank Pakistan limited, Habib Bank Umited, 
Hub Power Company limited, Hub Power Holding Pvt. limited, JS Bank limited, Kashf Foundation limited, K·Electric 
limited, Khushhali Microfinance Bank limited, Neelum Jhelum Hydro Power Co. limited, Pakistan Intennodals limited, 
Pakistan Services limited, Silk Bank limited, Sindh Nooriabad Power Co. Ph. (II) Pvt. limited (Phase-I & II), Soneri Bank 
limited, Summit Bank limited, Telecard limited, The Bank of Punjab, U Microfinance Bank limited, and WAPDA (Dasu 
Hydro Power Project). The combined value of debt securities as at December 31, 2024 amounled 10 Rs. 378,.5t1 million 
(2023: Rs. 386,774 million). 

41 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company has related party relationship with subsidiary companies (namely Primus leaSing limited and Awwat 
Corporate Restructuring Company limited), KSB Pumps Company Umiled, Trade Development Authority of Pakistan, 
Engro Polymer and Chemicals limited employees' defined benefit and defined contribution plan, its key management 
personnel and slate controlled entities . 

There are no transactions with key management personnel other than those carried out as per their terms of employment. 
Contributions to approved defined benefit and contribution plans are made In accordance with the actuarial valuations I 
tenns of scheme. Remuneration to executives Is disclosed in note 36 to the unconsolidated financial statements. 
Transactions with owners have been disclQSed in 'Unconsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity'. All other transactions 
between the Company and its related parties are carried out under nannal course of business except employee staff loans 
that are as per tenns of employment However, we understand that there are several transaction with subsidiaries that are 
based on agreed terms. The details of transactions with related parties during the year and balances with them as at year 
end, other Ihan those which have been disclosed elsewhere in these unconsolidated financial statements, are as follows: 
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Details of transactions with related parties during the year, other than those which have been disclosed elsewhere 11 the5e financial 
statements, are as follows: 

lO" 2023 

Koy Ot,,, K" 0,,". 
Directors managl ment Subsldlarl .. rel.ted OllKlor1l management Subtldlarln r.'ated 

peraonnel p.rtI .. ~rsonn.1 partl" I 
(Rupees In '000) 

Landing. 
Opening balance 26,000 
Addition during the year 301 ,600 
Repaid during !he year (327,600) 
Closing balance 

Inv"tments 
0penifIg balaoee 1,908,372 2,013,372 
Investment made dl.ling the year 1011,335 
Investment disposed off dlring the rear 
CllStifiecl as held-lot-sale 
Closing balance 

I Advenc .. 
Opening balance ,UI.110 71U58 159,ns m<>< 574,603 178,207 
Addition duing !he ye..- 22,824 755,000 19,558 395,540 300,000 
Repaid during the year (28,9&4) (909,951) (454) (41.952) (250.335) (318,432) 
TfWlSletJn I (out) - net 
Closing balance 45,170 565,000 15i,321 49,1110 719,958 159.nS 

Other ..... ts 
IntereSiI mar1l.-vp acc:rued 19,156 321 49,595 288 
Le • • • receivable ut'lCler IFRS-te '" Receivable from defined benefit plan 
Prellmnary e~se 

I """'" 
An.ts classified . s h.ld.for ..... 

0pe00g balance 145,000 
TnlIlsfer during the year 145.000 
Disposed off during the reat 
CIollng balance 145.000 145

1
000 

Borrowing. 
Opetq balance 4,827 
BoIToYMQs during the year 1211,755 73,156 
SeWed dlJl'ing the year j13115821 {6813291 

I Closing balance " .827 

Dtpotlt1lnd other accounts 

""""" "'-Received during the year 
fflhdtawn during the year 
OoIIng balanee 

I 
Other lliblUtJe. 

Inlere51 , mark1Jp payable 6 
Payable to defined benefil plln 3,139 '" Other Hlbll i~es 

.!:oU9 «, 

Incom, 
Mark""" , reb..m I inlerest earned 1,399 96,549 34,108 3,268 109,785 "3,865 
Dividend income 57,"23 120,000 

ElIpense 
Mark""" , return I intefesl paid 1,759 «2 
Operating expenses 6,000 116,355 8,"00 137,608 

Reimbl.nement of expenses 17,605 2,911 15,700 5,819 233 
Expenses ~ (note 41.1) 2",269 1,720 n ,'" ' ,290 

-41.1 These denote administrative expenses charged by the Company under the cost sharing agreement entered Into between the Company 
and Its subsidiaries (namely Primus Leasing Umlted, Awwal Corporate Restucturlng eompnay Limited) . , • 

-41.2 During !he year. the Company entered into transaction with Primus Leasing Limited amounting to R •. Nil mimon (2023: Rs. 55.156 million) 
against purchase of Loan and Lease receivables. The Company incurred service charges for leasi rental recoveries amounting to Rs. 
2.911 mIion (2023: Rs. 5.852 minion). 

~ 
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2024 2023 
---Rupees In '000 --

CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & UQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum Capital Requirement (MeR): 
Paid-up capital (net of losses) 6,000,000 6,000,000 

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR): 
Eligible Common Equity Tier 1 (eET 1) Capital 9,8381~50 II 8 '225'~281 
Eligible Additional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Capital 
Total Eligible TIer 1 Capital 9,838,050 8,225,128 
Eligible Tier 2 Capital 374,641 

Tolal Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2) 10,212,691 8,225,128 

Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs); 
Credit Risk 22,084,164 20,606,797 
Mantel Risk 10,787,140 7,704,183 
Operational Risk 2,935,450 2,634,080 
Total 35,806,754 30,9045,060 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio 27.48% 26.58% 

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 27.48'" 26.58% 

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 28.52'1. 26.58% 

In order to strengthen the solvency of Banks I Development Financial Institutions (OF I), SBP through its BSO Circular No. 
19 of 2008 dated September 05, 2008 has asked the DFls to raise their minimum paid up capital to Rs.6 biUlon free of 
losses by the end of financial year 2009. 

The paid-up capital and CAR of the Company stands at Rs. 6 billion and 28.52% of its risk weighted exposure as at 
December 31 , 2024 . 

The Company uses Standardised approach for calculations of Credit and Marlc.el Risk Weighted Assets while Basic 
Indicator approach is used to calculate Operational Risk Weighted assets . 

Notional minimum capital requirements prescribed by SSP 

CET1 minimum ratio 

TIer 1 minimum ratio 
Total capital minimum ratio 

Leverage Ratio (LR) : 

Eligible TIer· 1 Capital 

Total Exposures 

Leverage Ratio 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) : 

Total High Quali ty liquid Assets 

Total Net Cash Outflow 

liquidity Coverage Ratio 

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) : 

Total Available Stable Funding 

Total Required Stable Funding 

~el Stable Funding Ratio • 

2024 

6.00% 

7.50% 

11 .50% 

2024 

9,838,050 

221 ,914,571 

4.43't. 

54,535,339 

58,002,502 

94.02% 

24,609,964 

20,309,254 

121 .18% 

2023 

6.00% 
7.50% 

11.50% 

2023 

8,225,128 

153,919,681 

5.34% 

17,914,626 

17,581 ,217 

101 .90% 

24,490,814 

18,812,749 

130.18% 

I ~ 
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42.1 The full disclosures on the capital adequacy, leverage ratio & liquidity requirements as per SSP instructions issued from 
Urne to time shaH be placed on the website. The link to the full disclosure Is available at https:llpakbrunei.com.pk/wp­
contentluploadsI2020/03IBaseIII12020Disc!osure-Slandalone.pdf 

43 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

I 

I 
I ~ 
I 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Risk Management Framework (the Framework) of the Company provides principles for Identifying, assessing and 
monitoring risk within the Company. The Framework specifies the key elements of the risk management process In order to 
maximise opportunities, to minimise adversity and to achieve improved outcomes and outputs based on informed decision 
making. 

Categories of risk 

The Company generates most of its revenues by accepting credit, liquidity and mantel risk. Effective management of these 
risks is the decisive factor in the profitability of the Company. In addition, the Company Is subject to certain consequential 
risks that are common to all business undertakings. These risks are grouped under two headings: operational risk and 
reputational risk. The FrameworX is organised with reference to these five risk categories as detailed below: 

This risk Is defined as the possibility of loss due to unexpected default or a deterioration of credit 
Credit risk worthiness of a counter party. 

The risk of loss generated by adverse changes in the price of assets or contracts currently held by 
Mantel risk the Company. 

The risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations or fund increases in assets 

liquidity risk 
when they fall due without incurring an unacceptable cost the consequences of which may be the 
failure to meet obligations to repay investors and fulfil commitments to lend. 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or fa iled internal processes, people, and 
Operational risk systems or from external events and includes legal risk. 

Reputational risk 
The risk of failing to meet the standards of performance or behaviour required or expected by 
stakeholders in commercial activities or the way in which business is conducted. 

Risk responsibilities 

The Board of Directors (the Board) is accountable for the overall supervision of the risk management process. The Board is 
responsible for the approval of all risk policies and ensuring that these are property implemented. Furthermore , the Board 
approves the appointment of senior management personnel who are capable of managing the risk activities conducted by 
the Company. 

Risk Management comprises of two areas namely Credit Risk Management (CRM) end Mlddlo Office and Operational Risk 
(MOOR). CRM oversees credit risk taken by the Company while MOOR function overviews mantet, liquidity and operational 
risks of the Company. The functions of both of these units are subject to the policies and manuals approved by the Board, 
Prudential Regulations and additional regulatory directives issued from time to time. These units are independent of 
business generation and risk taking. For all credit exposures taken by the Company, CRM prepares a comprehensive 
credit advice highlighting business, financial and structural risks for Credit Committee members. CRM monitors the credit 
portfolio of the Company on a regular basis to ensure prudent lending. Moreover, this department also sets parameters for 
various risks including I) sectoral concentration, ii) exposure limits for single and group exposures, and iii) monitoring watch 
list accounts and the entire portfolio. The risk management philosophy is to Identify and monitor risk on a portfolio basis 
and assess the risk taking capacity of the statement of financial position as a whole. MOOR Is responsible for monitOring 
and reporting of market and liquidity risk as it arises from our trading, investing and lending aclivities. MOOR also conducls 
Risk and Self Assessment exercises and maintains Company wide risk registers to monitor operational risks embedded in 
the Company operations and ensure that sufficient controls are in place against such risks. 

Different Management Committees have been set up to review different kinds of risks; mainly being the Assets and 
liabilities Committee (ALCO), Credit Commitlee (CC) and Risk Management Committee (RMC). Comprehensive risk 
management manuals have been designed which cover all significant risks Including credit, liquidity, mantet and 
operational risks and provides guidance to management on risk controls , limits, risk measurement tools and a reporting 
~amewo~. ~ 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk, Le. the potential default of one or more debtors, is the largest source of risk for the Company. The Company Is 
exposed to credit risk through its lending and Investment activities. The credit risk arising from exposure to corporates Is 
governed by the Credit Risk Management Policy and Credit Administration Frameworks. The counter party credit risk 
arising from interbank lines are addressed in the Treasury policy frameworit. The Company has adopted Standardised 
Approach of Basel II Accord. 

The Company manages 3 principal sources of credit risk: 

il Sovereign credit risk 

When the Company lends to public sector borrowers. it prefers obtaining a full sovereign guarantee or the equivalent from 
the Government of Pakistan (GoP). However, certain public sector enterprises have a well defined cash flow stream and 
appropriate business model based on which the lending is secured through collaterals other than GoP guarantee. 

iii Non.soverelgn credit risk 

When the Company lends to private sector borrowers it does not benefit from sovereign guarantees or the equivalent. 
Consequently, each borrower's credit worthiness Is analysed on a standatone basis. Two intemal rating models are in use 
to rate (i) Corporate I Commercial customers (t~ SME customers. Frameworks of both these models have been duly 
approved by the Board. 

iii) Counter party credit risk on interbank limits 

In the normal course of its business, the Company's Treasury utilises products such 8S reverse repos and caillendings to 
meet the needs of the borrowers and manages its exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates and to temporarily invest 
its liquidity prior to disbursement. AU of these financial Instruments Invotve, to varying degrees, the risk that the 
counterparty in the transaction may be unable to meet its obligation to the Company. 

Reflecting a preference for minimising the exposure to counterparty credit risk, the Company maintains eligibility aiteria 
that link the exposure limits to counterparty credit ratings by extemal rating agencies. For example, the minimum rating for 
counlerparties to be eligible for a financing relationship with the Company Is BBB. 

Credit administration 

Credit Administration Department is involved in minimising losses that could arise due to security and documentation 
deficiencies. 

Risk analytics 

To ensure a prudent distribution of asset portfoHo, the Company manages its lendings and investment activities within a 
framework of Borrower, Group, Product, Geographical and Sector exposure limits and risk profile benchmarks. 

Stress testing 

The Company also conducts stress testing of its existing portfolio, which includes all assets, i.e., advances as well as 
investments. This exercise Is conducted on a quarterly basis through assigning shocks to distressed I non-perfonnlng 
assets of the Company and assessing its resulting effect on capital adequacy. 

Regular monitoring 

Regular monitoring of the advances portfolio is carried out which focuses on early problem recognition and Innuences the 
front office to carry out an assessment of the borrower's ability to rectify the identified problem I weakness within a 
reasonable time·frame, consider tighter structuring of facilities, confirm that there are no critical deficiencies In the existing 
security position and, if possible, arrange for strengthening of the same through obtaining additional collateral. It should 
however, be noted that these actions are taken prior to incurring overdues on the facility. 

Portfolio diversification 

While expanding the advances and the investment (TFCs) portfolio, efficient portfolio diversification has been a key 
consideration despite the relatively small size of operations. 

Particulars of the Company's significant on·balance sheet and off·balance sheet credit risk in various sectors are analysed 
as follows: 
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43.1.1 InvHtment In IHbt .e<:UrltlH 
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43.1 .4 

2024 2023 
Rupees In '000 --

Contingencies and Commitments 

Credit risk by Industry sector 
Agriculture, Forestry, Hunting and Fishing 65,000 95,000 

Textile 850,000 100,006 

Chemical al'ld Phannsceuticals 389,965 711 ,652 

Construction 145,000 
Sugar 150,000 250,000 

Power (Electricity), Gas, Water, Sanitary 3,278,124 3,764,3SO 
Transport, Storage And Communication 105,390 200,000 
Financial 18,885,521 117.914.440 
Services 116,000 SO,OOO 
Packaging 138,220 49,527 
Food and beverages 634,205 15,000 
Electronics and electrical appliances 
leather & footwear 2,000 

Others 42,500 21 ,333 

24,799,925 123,173,308 

Credit risk by public I private sector 
Public I Govemment 18,885,521 117,914.440 

Private 5,914,404 5,258,868 

24,799,925 123,173,308 

Concentration of advances 

The Company's top 10 exposures on the basis of lotal (funded and non-funded) aggregated to Rs. 8,723 million (2023: 
9,524 million) are as following: 

Funded 
Non Funded 

Total Exposure 

2024 2023 
--Rupees in '000 -

5,290,767 

3,432,ua 

8,723,615 

5 ,774 ,765 

3,749,549 

9,524,314 

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs. 9,718 million (2023: Rs. 19,514 million). 

43.1.5 Advances - Province I Region-wis. Disbursement and Utilisation 

Province I Region 

Punjab 8,451 ,258 8,451 ,258 

5indh 7,891 ,740 7,891 ,740 

Balochistan 500,000 500,000 

Islamabad 1,159,348 1,159,348 

KPK 9,000 9,000 

Total 18.011,346 8,451 ,258 7,891,740 500,000 1,159,348 9,000 

~ 
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Province I Region 

~3.2 

43.2.1 

~ 

Punjab 6,958,165 6,958,165 

Sindh 10,719,095 10,719,095 

Balochistan 901 ,500 901,500 

Islamabad 
KPK 3,000 3,000 

Total 18,581,760 6,958,165 10,719,095 901,500 3,000 

Market risk 

The market risk is the risk of reductions in earnings, value and I or reserves arising from changes In markel rates (such as 
interest rates , exchange rates, credit spreads) and market prices (such as commodities, equities, property etc.) as well 8S 

their correlations and volatilities. The Company Is exposed to market risk primarily through its trading activities, which are 
centered in the Treasury and Capital market groups. 

The Company classifies its assets in banking and trading books as per instructions from the SBP. The Company's trading 
book comprises positions in financial instruments held with trading intent or In order to hedge other etements of the 
trading book and free of any restrictive covenants on their tradability. In addition, positions need to be frequently and 
accurately valued and the portfolio should be actively managed. The positlons which do not fulfil the criteria of trading 
book falls under the banking book and are treated as per SBP requirements. 

The Company's trading book consisls of investments in govemment securities, listed equities and mutual funds. The 
Company actively measures, controls and manages market risk In its trading boo!( on a day-Io-day basis. Controls are 
applied to all investment portfolios by setting limits to the exposures taken. This Includes stop loss limits on shares In 
'He'd·for-trading' portfolio, individual and sectoral concentration timits, volatility and value-at-risk limits, etc, 

The Company measures market risk using various techniques like duration analysis for interest rate risk in banking book, 
Value-al·Risk for adverse price movement, sensitivity analysis for Investment in government securities, stress testing, etc. 
The results are communicated 10 ALCC and Risk Management Committee on monthly and quarterly basis respectively. 
Results are also communicated to the Board of Directors every quarter and to Board's Risk Management Committee on a 
half-yearly basis . Market risk is effectively managed at the portfolio level. The Company has adopted Standardised 
Approach of Basel II ACCOfd. 

Unconsolidated Statement of Financial Position spli t by trading and banking books ~ Basel II SpeciRc 

2024 2023 
B .. nklng II Trading II B .. nklng book II Trading book II book book Total Tobll 

Rupees In '000 
Cash and balances wilh 

treasury banks 796,300 796,300 688,559 688,559 

Balances with other banks 107,838 107,838 239,927 239,927 

Lendings 10 financial Wlstitulions 
Investments 4,781,554 163,966,508 168,748,062 4,381,875 154,289,191 158,671 ,066 

Advances 21,141,357 21,141 ,357 19,609,901 19,609.901 

Property aod equipment 47,071 47,071 53,320 53,320 

Right-of-uH assets 54,278 54,278 16.863 16,863 

Intangible assets 7,893 7,893 12,521 12,521 

Deferred lI.x assets 243,419 243,419 1,129,621 1,129,621 

Other assets 10,684,829 10,684,829 7,356,144 7,356,144 

Assets classified as held-f()(-sale 168,904 168,904 292,279 292.279 

38,033,443 163,966,508 201,999,951 33,761 .010 1 54,289, 191 188,070,201 
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43.2.2 Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations of exchange rales. The Company Is not exposed to any 
significant funded or non-funded foreign exchange exposure. 

43.2.3 Equity position risk 

Equity position risk is the risk that the fair value will fluctuate as a result of changes in prices of Individual stocks or the 
levels of equity indices. The Company's equity investments are either classified as fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss account (FVPl). The objective of the fair value 
through OCI portfolio is to maintain a medium term view of capital gains and dividend income whOe the Company takes 
advantage of short·term capital gains through its fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) portfolio investments. It is 
managed by the Company through its internal investment policy which is duly approved by the Board. The policy defines 
various position limits. portfolio limits and stop loss limits for the equity desk. The Company also applies stress tests on 
the equity portfolio which is part of the Company's overall market risk exposure limit on the banking boc*. 

Impact of 5% change in equity prices on 

- Unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account 

- Other comprehensive income (67,302) «8,066) 

43.2.4 Yield I Interest rate risk In the banking book (IRRBB) • Buelll Specific 

Yield I Interest rate sensitivity position for on-balance sheet instruments is based on the eariier of contractual re-priclng or 
maturity dates and for off-balance sheet instruments Is based on settlement dates. This also refers to the non-trading 
market risk. Apart from the gap analysis between the market rate sensitive assets and liabilities as per the table given 
below. the Company also conducts interest rate sensitivity analysis In the banking book using the Duration Gap analysis 
based on its Interest rate sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive lIabiliUes. The Company also uses parallel shift in 
interest rates to detennine the impact of adverse rate changes on investments in government securities. 

inlerest rate sensitivity of assets and liabilities is measured based on actual re-pricing I maturity behaviour of all 
interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. 

Duration GAP is calculated based on interest rate re-pricing of assets and liabilities and is used to detennine impact of 
adverse interest rate movements on the Companys equity. Such an analysis Is conducted every month and results 
are reported to the AlCO and RMC on a monthly and quarterly basis respectively. 

Impact of 1 % change in interest rates on 

- Unconsolidated statement of profit and loss account 

• Other comprehensive income 

2024 
Banking II 

book II 

125,364 

2023 

II Trading Banking 
book book 

Rupees In '000 

(36,303) 

595,950 

Trading 
book 

(1,888,270) 
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43.2.5 Mismatch of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities 

.. 2< 
......... to leld Iinternt rat. risk 

Oo,bIIl.nee 'Met flrullncl,II"ltruml"ts 

...... 
Cash .00 balances ...mtI trealUfY banks 

Balances with other bank' 
lending 10 financial institutions 

1000'tments 

-~. 
Other assets 

u.bIIitjos -"". Deposita and other accounta 

Other liabilities 

On-balance sheel gap 

Non financial MI assets 

Total net assels 

Off·balanee lheftl flnanclallnllrumenll 

Documentary credits and short-lerm 

trade-related transactionS 

COmi,ib,lef'Its in respect ot 
- Io!ward foreign exchar)ge contracts 

-forward lendings 

- forward inveslments 

- repo transactiOns 

EtrectM yield I 
Internt nile 

% 

5.02"10 to 13.50% 

7.94% to 20.29% 

2.25% to 28.35% 

0%1019,06% 

TotAl yield Iinternt risk sensitivity gap 

Cumulatw. yield Iinternt risk s.nsltlvlty gap 

Tota' Over 1 103 0....,3101 
Ovet IS 

Over 110 2 
Upto 1 Month Months 10 1 

Months Months 
Ve.T 

VI .... 

Rupen In '000 

700,300 , , - - -
107,1138 to,SOt · - 97,~~37 · . · · · . · 

111,131,355 25,02&,972 40,194,552 8,,237,936 . 1,424,258 

21.141,357 2,792,139 1,401,370 2,1179,320 4,391,119 2,121,998 
5,185,915 · · · - · 

193,962,825 27,829,712 42,102,922 92,111,25& 4,488.4'6 ",252,254 

154,313,470 41,1152,059 51,942,960 115,907,171 1.076.049 2,061.261 

1.1&5.705 20,000 500,'" 645.705 - -
3.556.353 · · · - · 

1119,1OS,5211 41.1172.059 52, .... 2.960 116,552.1176 1,076,0.49 2,061 ,261 

4,1157,297 (14.042.347) (10,340,03ll) 5,564,3110 3,412,3067 2.190,993 

7,1101 ,076 

12,658,373 

1,327,519 1,327,519 

4,850,815 4.850.815 

18,700,521 18.700.521 

24,111,925 24.878.925 

10.836.578 (10,340.03ll) 5.564.380 3,412,3&7 2,190,993 

10,836,578 496,541 6,060,921 1.473,288 11,664,281 

Over21G 3 Over 3 to.5 Over Sio 10 Abov.10 
YII,. V., ... V,.,. V ..... 

- - · · 
· · , · 
· · · · 
· 8,004,974 7 ..... 741 251 ,118 

2,241 ,&42 3,028,619 1,508,082 · 
· · · · 

2.241,642 11,033,593 2,252,123 251,171 

702.966 654,001 1117,003 -
· · · · 
, - · · 

702,966 654.001 1117,003 

1,538,675 10,379,592 2,065,820 251 ,879 

1,538,875 10,379,592 2,065,820 251,879 

13.202,956 23,512,549 25,"",369 25,900,148 

• 

-
NOIHnterest 

bearing 
financial 

Instruments 

7M,3oo 
. 
. 

1,3.46,043 

$.4,010 

5,185,915 

7,392,3211 

, 

-
3,556,353 

3,556.353 

3 ,835,975 

3,835,915 

29,736,2.23 
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dmH 
Cash and balances with treasury banks 

Balances with olller banks 

lending to financial Institutions 

Irwestments 

"""'"'"' OIheraSHl$ 

LtabifUcs 

Borrowings 

Deposits, and OCher aa:otrots 

Othef liabilities 

On·balance Ihut gap 

Net non· financial assets 

Oft-balllnctl I~ financial lnatruments 
Docunentary credits and short·lenn 

lrade-relaled transactlons 

Commitments In respect of: 

• bward foreign exchange contracts .--·forward investment 

• repo trsnsac:tlons 

Other commitment 
Off-bllanc. sr-t gap 

EHecllv. yleldl 
Inl ..... 1 rete 

% 

20.50% 10 20.51% 

'4.68.% 10 25.79% 

2.7".4 10 29.67% 

0% 1023.26% 

Total yie ld I Interest mk sensitivity gsp 

Cumuiativ. yield Iintarest risk sensitivity gep 

- - - - - - - -
2023 

Exposed to ItI ld I Interest IlIt, risk 

T ... , Over 1 to 3 Over 3 to ' 0"" • 
Upto 1 Month Months to 1 

Months Months 
Yeer' 

&88,559 · · · · 
239,927 239,927 · · · 

. · · · · 
156,762,694 64,919,855 38,635,150 30,753,019 15,885,7"3 

, 9.li09,901 4,&42.646 7,329,702 2."39,817 1,064,876 

5,650,450 · · · · 
182,951,531 70,062,428 45,964,852 33,192.536 16,9SO,f,19 

174.593,998 136,401 ,158 3,826,704 29,013.261 1 .079_~i35 

. · · · -
2,433,101 · · · -

In,021,099 136,401,158 3,626,1D4 29,033,261 1,079,535 

5,924,432 (66,339,330) 42,338,148 4,159,389 1 5,87 1 ,C~ 

4,914,516 

10,838,948 

1,376,350 1,376,350 

3,8&4,675 3,884,675 

4,956,324 4,956,324 

112,955,959 112,955,959 

123,113,306 123,173,308 

56,833,978 42,338,148 4,159,369 15,871,OIJ.4 

0..<.,1 t 0 2 
V •• ,.. 

RuPH' 'n '000 

· 
· 
· 
· 

1,099,201 

· 
1,099,201 

2,024,663 

· 

· 
2.024,663 

(925,462) 

(925,462) 

56,833,978 99, 172,121 103,331,498 11 9,202,5150 118,2n,118 

Ov.r 2 to 3 Over 3 to 5 V,.,.. V ..... 

· · 
· · 
· · 

923,«7 2,636,7'" 

929,310 1,284,444 

· · 
1,852.757 3,921,185 

867,661 1,145,106 

· · 

· · 
867,661 1,145,106 

985,096 2,776,079 

985,096 2,n6,079 

Ove rS to 10 
V,.,.. 

· 
· 
· 

1,774,866 

553,810 

· 
2,328,676 

415,304 

· 

· 
415,304 

1,913,372 

1,913,372 

AboY,tO 
V ...... 

· 
· 
· 

212,557 

· 
· 

212,557 

· 
· 

· 

212,557 

212,557 

11 9,262,21" 122,038,294 123,951 ,666 124, l S<t,223 

Non-iota .... , 
bearing 

finanellli 
Instruments 

688.559 

· 
· 

961 ,318 

66,295 

5,650,450 

7,366,620 

· 

· 
2.433. 101 

2,433.101 

4,933.519 

",933,519 

129,097,14 2 

-
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Operational risk 

Operational risk Is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed Internal processes, people and systems or from 
external events. 

The Company, like all financial Institutions, is exposed to many types of operational risks, Including the potential losses 
arising from internal activities or external events caused by breakdowns in Information, communication, physical 
safeguards, business continuity, supervision, transaction processing, settlement systems and procedures and the 
execution of legal, fiduciary and agency responsibilities. 

The Company maintains a system of internal controls designed to keep operational risk at appropriate levels, in view of 
the Company's financial strength and the characteristics of the activities and market In which it operates. These internal 
controls are periodically updated to conform to the industry's best practices. The Company also gathers operational risk 
losses to determine strengths and sufficiency of Its Internal controls. 

The Company has developed a Business Continuity Ptan applicable to all its functional areas and the plan is rehearsed 
at least twice in a year. 

Furthermore, the Company's operalJons are relatively simple as compared to 8 large scale commercial bank. The 
Company only operates with its head office in Karachi with a liaison office In Lahore. Given simple operations and small 
scale, Company uses Basic Indicator Approach (BtA) to determine capital charge under Basel l! . 

43." Liquidity risk 

I 

~ 
I 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company Is unable to fund its current obligations and operations in the most cost efficient 
manner. ALCa is the forum to oversee liquidity management. 

Liquidity risk can arise from Ihe Company's activities and can be grouped Into three categories: 

Inflows I outflows from on-balance sheet items (other than mar1l:etable securities and wholesale borrowings) and off· 
balance sheet Items; 

Mar1l:etability of trading securities; and 

Capacity to borrow from the wholesale mar1l:ets for funding as well as trading activities. 

The Company's maIn funding source Is the inter·bank money mar1l:et. Changes in the government monetary policy and 
mar1l:et expectations of interest rale are all important factors Ihat can adversely affect our key funding SOUtees. Efficient 
and accurale planning plays a critical role in liquidity management. The Company's MIS provides information on 
expected cash inflows I outflows which allows the Company to take timely decisions based on Mure requirements. The 
Company monitors all the possible sources from which liquidity risk can emanate including mar1l:et reputation. borrowing 
lerms, deterioration in quality of credil portfolio. etc. Other sources are also Identified for which early warning Indicators 
have been created and are being monitored for early intervention of management sensing a potential liquidity mJOch. 

Gap analysis and stress testing is done on a periodic basis to capture any adverse effect of mar1l:et movements on 
liquidity position. Based on the results produced, ALca devises the liquidity management strategy to maintain sufficient 
liquidity to deal with any related catastrophe. 

• 



Assets 

Cam and balances wiltt 
lreaSUfy banks 

Balances with other ...... 
l enclings to financial 
Instilutions 

_b -Property and equIpment 

Rlghl-of-use auets 

Intangible assets 

Deferred tax assets 

Other assets 

A5sets classified as held­

"'-"" 
l lll blllUe. 

""""""'I' 
0ep0$it3 and other 
~b 

l ease liabilities 

Other liabilities 

Net • • •• ts 

Share capilal 

RelftlWl. 

Unappropriated pmfi! 

Deficit on revatuatiOn of ...... 

- - - - - - - - - - - - -
"''' 

Over 1 t0 7 Ov, r7 10 ' 4 Over'4 day, DY, r 1 to 2 Overllo] o...er 3 to 6 Over 6 to 9 
Total Upto 1 Day 

days days to 1 Month Months Month. Months Months 

Rupees In '(100 

196,300 196,300 - - - - - - -
107,838 - - - 10,602 - - - -

- - · - - · · . · 
168,741,062 · · · 269,182 154,503 134,604 19,413,934 ' ,218,561 

21,14' ,351 3-48,151 555,438 1,071,920 808,924 591,431 716.933 2,1711,320 990,114 

47,071 · · · · 6,265 2,233 8,930 10,381 

54,278 · · · m ' ~T73 V73 1,31' 8,31' 

7,893 · · · 94' 94' ." ~'" 2.211 

243,41 9 · · · - · · . · 
10,684,829 206,155 591,532 150,064 91.64 3 806,813 9n,308 2,364,5<15 201 ,543 

168,904 · · · · · · - -
201.199,951 1,351,312 1,146,910 1,228,934 1,114,071 1.662,738 1.n9.798 2 4,6n ,asa 10,431.195 

114,383,470 · 11.717.725 8.073.513 18.083.904 21.219.322 11.498,164 83,518,745 1,024.991 

1.1155.705 · "',000 · · · 500,000 845.705 · 
31.194 · · · .. , .53 ... 1.423 34.411 

3.755.209 204.051 57,'" 15.21 8 246.460 52&,662 109.120 2,487.700 33.581 

181.).i1.578 21)4.059 18.7M.7t3 ' .088.731 18.330.811 28,816.437 20,108.544 8lS.1551 .573 1.092," ' 

12.1558.373 1.147,253 (17.647.823) (4 ,8S9,74n (15.1 .... 739) (27.153,8", (18,328,746) (8 '1,173.685) 1 ,338.104 

8,000,000 

2.512.191 

3.563.017 

5a3.165 

12.658.373 

Over 9 Over 1 to 2 ever 2 to 3 Over 3 to 5 Over 5 
months to 1 y.ars years Years Years 

year 

- - - - -
97,236 - - - -

- · · · · 
2.280,80S 27,326,026 4 ,706,411 13,150,012 22,093,950 

3,402,192 2,125,488 2,2"1 ,642 3,028,619 1,572,093 

2,232 12,285 4,765 · · 
8,318 21,005 · · · 

- · · · · 
· · 243,419 · · 

13,250 57,919 5,275,719 3,338 · 
168,904 · · · · 

5,973,537 30,242,723 12,472.023 16,181 .969 23,666.043 

2.334.n1 4 .823.509 2.161.870 "',431 204.518 

· · · · · 

· · · · -

". 53,113 11.156 ',230 · 
2,335,005 4 ,876.622 2,881.826 955.668 204.518 

3.638.532 25.368.101 I.SiD.197 15,226,301 23.461,525 
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Assets 

Cash and balances with 
treaslXY banh 

Balances with other 
banks 

Lendings to financial 
institutions 

Investments 

Advances 

Property and equipment 

Right-of-usa assets 
Intangible assets 

Deferred tax assets 

"""" --Assets classified as held-
fof-sale 

Llablllties 

Bonowi"", 

Deposits and othef 
~. 

l ease Uability 

Other liabil ities 

NetasselS 

Share capital 

Reserves 

Unappropriated pro~t 

Deficit on revaluation of _. 
• 

- - - - -
Over 1 10 7 Oven to,4 OY1tr 14 day. Over 110 2 

Total Upto 1 Day 
days dlilYs to 1 Month Months 

688,559 688,559 - - - -
239,927 - - - 140,203 -

- - - - - -
158,671,066 - 1,448,115 - 378,368 99,271 

19,609,901 247,864 1,090,552 25,508 817,088 1,409,823 

53.320 - - - 3,401 2,935 

16,863 - - - 2,202 2,058 

12,521 - - - 1,251 1,251 

1,129,621 4,815 61 .575 3,353 21,496 43,069 

7.356,144 144,538 1,716.817 144.111 319,242 828.365 

292,219 - - - - -
188,010,201 1,085,836 4,311,059 112,912 1,683,251 2,386,118 

114,593,998 

-
2.165 

2,634,490 

111,231,253 

10,B38,948 

6,000,000 

2,390,092 

3,269,323 

(820,461) 

10,838,948 

- 56,011,806 43,012,284 31,248,615 311,059 

- - - - -

- - - 27 ' 19 

90,121 183,662 460,429 482.815 68,917 

90,121 56,201,468 43,532,713 37,731,457 440,495 

995,115 (51,B84,409) (43,359,741) (36,D48,2(6) 1.946,283 

- - - - - - - -
2023 

Over 310 6 Over 6 109 
Ovar9 Over 1 to 2 Over 2 to 3 Over 3 to 5 Over 5 o...lr2 to J 

Months Months Months 
month. to 1 Y.a ... Y.ars 

ye.r V'''''' years 

Rupees In '000 

- - - - - - - -

- - - 99,724 - - - -

- - - - - - - -
96,132 2,876,321 13,766,883 24,71 2,90 1 47,665,276 34,846,480 22,013,994 10,767,319 

1,894,236 2,335,856 1,014,961 3.317,671 2,511,481 1,809,686 2 ,006,890 1,12B,285 

2.935 2.018 3,883 11 ,210 16,119 9,392 702 -
2,202 6,0463 2,335 202 803 '98 - -
1,251 3,111 - 1,885 3,112 - - -

68,001 11 6,453 79,668 155,514 228,20 1 161 ,159 122,814 63,443 

1.218,606 923,188 168,933 - - 1.848,401 43,331 -
- 123,315 - 168,904 - - - -

3,283,363 6,381.445 15,036,668 28,468,011 50,426,252 38,675,122 24,181,131 11 ,959,041 

459,665 22,164,815 1,194,142 2,893,41 5 5,775,255 2,864,646 1,458,020 474.216 

- - - - - - - -
98 109 <31 77 930 ,7< - -

12,635 816,580 36,911 115,230 33,525 260,892 12,113 -
532,398 23,581,504 1,231,484 3,008,722 5,809,710 3,126,112 1,470,193 474.216 

2,750,965 (11,194,059) 13,805,184 25,459,349 44,616,5042 35.5049.610 22.717,544 11,434,111 
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Ctih Md bIIin:aa ... n....,. .... 
Blllncel wIItI _ bIrb 

~, ,.~""**'" 

~'\me1It1 

-~. 
Property Iftd eq.ApmII'II 

RIght4 ...... Inel. ---0ef1lfJed 1M 1._ 
Otw.n.tI 
An .. cIaJ.MIed ................. 

... -. --DIpoIkJ ..., OIlIer __ 

l .... ~ """.-
Nfl .... ,. 

..... -
"~. 

c..ll1IId ---...., naury .... 
BIIIInce .... 0IIIw bIonkI 

lMI6tIgI tel INndIIIn&IiIutionI ......... 
-~. 
FlQd I.Hb 

RighI of u .. tutU --­~w .. HtI 

Oller IIHII 

AI_ clusilotd .. 1M*Hor-.... 

........ --Dt,>oIiII _ 0CIw __ ,-­
COW-

Ntt .... tI 

no._ no._ · · · · · · 
I07,1lI 10,102 · · 17,2'" · · · · 

· · · · · · · · 
163,74',062 2st,l 82 219,107 11,413,134 11,411,373 27,1l6,O21 ",7041,471 12,154,012 22,083,15(1 

21 ,141,157 2,7U. 1S1 1,401,no 2,171,120 4,3». ... 2,1l . ...... 2,141,Ml :1,021,1" 1,172,013 

47,071 · 1,1" ',I:SO 12,1" 11,2Ia 4,765 · · 
54,27' '"' ..... 1,31' "'" 21,001 · · 
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44 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

The Board of DIrectors have proposed a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 of Re. 0.5 per share (2023: 
Re. 0.5 per share), amounting to Rs. 300 million (2023: Rs. 300 million) at their meeting held on March 05, 2025, for 
approval of the members at the annual general meetlng to be held on March 27. 2025. The unconsolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31 , 2024 do not include the effect of these appropriations which will be 
accounted for In the unconsolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2025, 

45 GENERAL 

45.1 FIgures In these unconsolidated financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Rupees unless 
otherwise stated. 

46 DATE OF AUTHORISATION 

4ese financial statements were authorized for Issue by the Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting held on 
arch 05, 2025. 

If U , .-'>~ .d~ 1wJ 
Chief Financial Officor ----:D-!IC".-c"'t-o-,-- Director 
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8,1 This includes net investment in finance lease as disclosed below: 

2024 2023 
Later than Not later Later than 

Not later one and Over five than one Oiittnd Over five than one leaathan Total year Ian than Total years years year five years ffve years 
Ru aln'OOO 

Lease rentals receivable 929,001 1,028,443 1,967,444 1,231,847 1,019,198 2,251,045 
Residual value 450,072 602,601 1,052,673 345,288 610,445 955,733 

Minimum lease payments 1,379,073 1,831,044 3,010,117 1,577,135 1,629,643 3,206,778 

Financial charges for Mure 
(1$7,223) (140,284) (337,507) (324,306) (181,028) (505,334) periods 

Present value of minimum 
1,181,850 1,490,780 2,672,610 1,252,829 1,448,615 lease payments 2,701,-444 

8.1.1 These leases are executed for a term of 1 to 5 years. Security deposits have been obtained within a range of 10% to 50% (2023: 10% 
to 50%) of the cost of Investment at the time of disbursement and have been recorded in other liabilities. The rate of retum ranges 
from 9.42% to 24% per annum (2023: 9.22% to 29.08% per annum). Lease rentals are receivable in monthly/ quarterly/ half yearly 
instalments. The assets are pledged in favour of the Group. 

8.2 Particulars of advances (groae) 

In local currency 
In foreign currencies 

2024 2023 
- Rupeea In '000 - 

25,113,645 23,599,064 

25,113,645 23,599,064 

8.2.1 Advances to Women, Women-owned and Managed Entarpriaas 

Women 
Women Owned and Managed Enterprises 413,756 

413,756 
233,599 
233,599 

Gross loans disbursed to women, women-owned and managed enterprises during the year Rs. 293.73 million (2023: Rs.173.95 
8.2.2 . million). 

8.3 Particulars of credit loss allowance 

8.3.1 Advanc&1 • Exposure 

Gross carrying amount • 
opening 

1---Sta_g_a_1_1,..,-Sta-ge_2_
2
...,i"'"r-s-ta_g_e_3.....,.U---To_ta_l ll Stage 1 II Stage 2 

2Jt3 Stage 3 I,_! _r_ota_l__. 
-------------- Rupu1 In '000 

21,656,732 513,408 1,181,635 27,616,686 

New advances 
Advances derecognised or 
repaid 
Transfer to stage 1 
Transfer to stage 2 
Transfer to s!age 3 

19,027,728 8,4,949 52,552 19,165,229 19,890,442 112,568 140,484 20,143,494 

(17,172,746) (265,078) (212,824) (17,650,648) (23,927,694) (139,692) (75,632) (24,143,018) 

30,500 (30,500) . . 266,466 (266,466) . . 
(1,033,760) 1,033,760 . . (441,305) 441,305 . . 
(145,874) (55,181) 200,855 . (52,820) (143,237) 196,057 . 
706,048 767,950 40,583 1,514,581 (4,264,911) 4,478 260,909 (3,999,524) 

Amounts written off / charge 

Closing balance 

(18,098) (18,098) 

22,362,780 1,285,836 1,465,029 25,113,645 21,656,732 517,886 1,-424,446 23,599,064 



8.3.2 Advances - Credit 1011 allowance 

1---St1-g-.-,--1""1-s11_q_t""'2-
2
..,i
2
,..t;..,s,..ta_g_e..,.3....,.,.U-.,,,.To""'ta"""I--III Stage 1 II Stage 2 

2ij23 St.apt 3 n 
Rupn1 In ·ooo 

Total 

Opening balance 81,284 24,770 1,194,736 22,528 7,562 724,431 

Impact of Adoption of IFR! 

1,300,790 

76,434 14,018 223,284 

75'4,521 

313,736 

New Advances 
Advance& derecognlsed or 
repaid 
Transfer to stage 1 
Transrer to stage 2 
Transfer 10 stage 3 

38,859 1,477 S,111 46,447 35,830 4,538 138,149 178,517 

(33,805) (2,302) (137,994) (174,101) (42,870) (8,905) (62,385) (114,160) 

185 (185) . . 1,003 (1,003) . . 
(2,875) 2,876 . . (1,050) 1,278 (228) . 

(10,882) (9,117) 19.99!1 . (276} (.C,483) .C,73!1 . 
(8,518) (7,252) (112,88') 

Amounts written off I charge 

Changes In risk parameters 
(PDs/LGDs/EAOs) 

Closing balance 

(4,137) 4,979 87,698 

(128,654) (7,363) 

(10,315) 

(8,555) 80,275 

166,746 

64,357 

1,260,676 

168,176 

68,829 22,497 1, 169,550 81,284 24,770 1,194,736 ---- 1,300,790 

8,3.3 Advances • Credit 1011 allowance details 
lntemal / Extamal rating/ stage claaalflcatlon 

~;~sta~s;a;1;~1;1 ;~sta~q;,;2;
2
~i2;i4;s~ta~s;•;3;1;1 ;;r=-o-ta..,.,--111 stage 1 II 

- Rupees In '000 - 

2023 
Stage 2 II Stage 3 !._f --'T;..;;;o;.;;ta;.;.I ___. 

Outatandlng groas exposure 
Performing· Stage 1 22,362,780 

Under Performing • Stage : 1,285,836 

22,362,780 21,658,731 

1,285,836 517,887 

Non-performing - Stage 3 

Other Assets Espec:laUy DD Mentioned • • 
Substandard • • 
Doubtful • • 
Loss • • 

4,900 4,900 

32,821 32,821 
8,008 8,008 

1,419,300 1,419,300 DD,_________, 
Total 22,362,780 

1,465,029 
25,113,845 21,656,731 

Corresponding ECL 
Stage 1 and stage 2 
Stage 3 

68,629 

1,465,029 
1,285,838 1,485,029 

22,497 
1,169,550 

22,294,151 

91,126 

1,169,550 -------- 
1,263,339 

81,284 

295,479 23,8152,969 21,575,4-17 

517,887 

24,770 

493.117 

21,656,731 

517,887 

600 600 

29,967 29,967 
233,776 233,776 

1,160,103 1,160,103 
1,424,446 1,424,446 
1,424,446 23,599,064 

1,194,736 
106,05'4 

1,194,736 
229,710 22,298,274 

Non 
Credltloaa Non Credit loss performing allowance performing 

allowance loans loans 
8.3.3.1 Category of classlflcatlon In stage 3 Rupee, In '000 

OomesUc 
Other Assets Especially Mentioned 4,900 3,114 600 400 
Substandard 32,821 20,868 29,967 19,995 
Doubtful 8,008 5,090 233,776 172,131 
Loss 1,419,300 1,140,478 1,160,103 1,002,210 

Total 1,465,029 1,169,550 1,424,446 1,194,736 

Advances include Rs. 1,465.029 million (2023: Rs. 1425.446 million) which have been placed under the non-performing status. 





9.2 Property and equipment 

2024 

IJ1rah leuehold Furniture Electrlcal Computer Mobile Improve- and office Vehlclea Total Attet menll and flxturet equipment equipment phont1 

-------------- Rupees In 'ODO-------------- 
At January 1, 2024 
Cost 82,000 48,892 23,752 21,658 38,li88 69,463 470 264,823 

Accumulated depreciation (5,787) (48,232) (22,562) (17,405) (28,271) (23,254) (470) (1-46,971) 

Net book value 68,213 660 1,200 4,253 10,317 46,209 118,852 

Year ended December 31, 2024 
Opening net book value 51,213 660 1,200 4,253 10,317 '48,209 118,852 

Additions 3,336 2,177 987 5,536 4,760 16,796 

Disposals 
Cost (18) (-406) (1,338) (6-40) (2,402) 
Accumulated depreciation 8 370 1,316 578 2,269 

(10) (36) (23) (64) (133) 

D11preclation charge (11,918) (279) (440) (1,721) (5,164) (15,214) (32,736) 

Closing net book value 46,295 3,707 2,901 3,496 10,625 35,7515 102,779 

At December 31, 2024 
Cost 82,000 52,218 25,893 22,622 44,060 74,223 470 281,486 
Accumulated depreciation (111,705) (48,511) (22,992) (19,126) (33,435) (38,468) (470) (178,707) 

Net book value 41,295 3,707 2,901 3,496 10,625 35,715 102,779 

Rate of depreciation 20% 20% 20% 20% 33% 25% 50'~ (percentage) 

2023 

IJarah leasehold Furniture Electrical Computer Mobile Improve- and offln Vehlc:laa Total A11tt manta and fixtures equipment equipment phones 

Ru ees ln'OOO p 
At January 1, 2023 
Cost 51,674 24,275 20,168 31,479 50,880 519 178,995 

Accumulated depreclaUon (51,045) (23,585) (16,872) (27,092) {-41,395) (495) (160,484) 

Net book value 629 690 3,296 4,387 9,485 24 18,511 

Year ended December 31, 2023 

Opening net book value 629 690 3,296 4,387 9,485 24 18,511 

Reclassified lo asset held for sale 
Cost I (49) c::>I Accumulated depreciation 25 

{24} (24) 
Additions 62,000 512 1,025 2,587 10,549 43,995 120,668 

Disposals 
Cost (3,294) (1,548) {1,097) (3,440) (25,412) (34,791) 

Accumulated depreciation _ 3,294 1,548 1,038 3,292 22,711 31,883 

(59) (148) (2,701) (2,908) 

Depreciation charge (5,787) (481) (515) (1,571) (4,471) {4,570) (17,395) 

Closing net book value 56,213 660 1,200 4,253 10,317 46,209 118,852 

At December 31, 2023 
Cost 62,000 48,892 23,752 21,658 38,588 69,463 470 264,823 

Accumulated depreciation (5,787) {48,232) (22,552) (17.405) (28,271) (23,254) (-470) (145,971) 

~ 
Net book value 58,213 660 1,200 4,253 10,317 48,209 118,852 

~ 

Rate of depreciation (percentage) 20% 20% 20% 20% 33% 25% 50% 
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